

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Social Studies Teachers' Perceptions of Alternative Assessments for Students with IEPs

Chander Mohan Mallhotra Jr. Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Education Commons

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Chander Mohan Mallhotra Jr.

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. David Weintraub, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty
Dr. Shelly Arneson, Committee Member, Education Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2023

Abstract

Social Studies Teachers' Perceptions of Alternative Assessments for Students with IEPs

by

Chander Mohan Mallhotra Jr.

MA, St. Joseph's College, 2013

BS, St. Joseph's College, 2011

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Assessments are one of the vital pillars of education but often are designed without the specific needs of students considered. Instruction is often differentiated for students with individualized education programs (IEPs), but rarely are assessments. Students in classes with IEPs in the social studies department at the project site school in the state of New York are performing below grade level. Teachers at this school are encouraged by the department chair to structure their assessments based on the Regents exam, which uses traditional assessment methods. The purpose of this case study was to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support students' academic achievement in social studies classes. Guided by Davidson's theory of interpretivism, data were gathered from interviews with seven social studies teachers regarding their perceptions of the use of alternative assessments to support students' academic achievement in social studies classes and to support test preparation for New York state Regents exams. Data were also collected through document review of teachers' lesson plans. Data analysis indicated that most teachers feel unprepared to use alternative assessments and teachers lack training or familiarity with alternative assessments. A professional development plan was created and implemented to train teachers on the design and implementation of alternative assessments with the goal of improving outcomes for students with IEPs. The results of this study have potential implications for positive social change that include increased use of alternative assessments at the local site to the benefit of students with IEPs.

Social Studies Teachers' Perceptions of Alternative Assessments in Inclusion Classrooms

by

Chander Mohan Mallhotra Jr.

MA, St. Joseph's College, 2013

BS, St. Joseph's College, 2011

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2023

Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to my mom. There are an infinite number of words I could write to express the support you have given me and the gratitude I feel, but none of them seem like enough, so I will just say thank you for all of it, and I love you.

To my friends, thank you for supporting me through all the difficulties and helping to make this all worthwhile. I am blessed to have your love and support.

To Dr. Vinski and Dr. Blakeley, the two of you helped me to realize that the pursuit of knowledge does not end when the school day ends. Thank you for inspiring me to reach higher and for seeing me as an equal.

Finally, to Elyse, you are the love of my life and an inspiration to me. Thank you for all your support and for proofreading this so many times. You have done more to help me than you will ever know. I would not be here today without you.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank the participants of my study and the local site for allowing me to conduct the research. You were all very lovely to work with and I am honored to be part of the same educational organization.

I would like to thank my colleagues; you have supported me and been patient when I was distracted while working on this. You encouraged me and even gave me ideas and inspiration that are weaved throughout this study.

I would like to thank Bill for always reminding me to do my homework.

I would also like to thank my doctoral committee. It has been a rough few years with COVID-19 and numerous personal challenges for all of us. Thank you for committing your time and energy to helping me achieve a dream I have had since fourth grade. I am forever grateful.

Table of Contents

Lis	et of Tables	iv
Se	ction 1: The Problem	1
	The Local Problem	1
	Rationale	2
	Definitions of Terms	5
	Significance of the Study	6
	Research Questions	7
	Review of the Literature	8
	Conceptual Framework	8
	Review of the Broader Problem	10
	Standardized Testing	15
	Assessment and Students with IEPs	18
	Impact of Alternative Assessments Beyond the Classroom	20
	Implications	26
	Summary	27
Se	ction 2: The Methodology	28
	Research Design and Approach	28
	Participants	29
	Criteria for Selecting Participants	29
	Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants	30
	Establishing Researcher–Participant Relationship	30

Data Collection	30
Instruments	31
Data Analysis	34
Analysis of the Interview Data	34
Analysis of the Lesson Plans	35
Ethical Issues	37
Evidence of Quality	38
Limitations	39
Data Analysis Results	39
Theme 1: Traditional Assessment Use Among Teachers	42
Theme 2: Divided Opinions on Alternative Assessments	43
Theme 3: Minimal Support or Training on Assessments	47
Theme 4: Impact on Students With IEPs	49
Data Analysis Findings	51
Section 3: The Project	53
Introduction	53
Rationale	53
Review of the Literature	55
Alternative Assessment Education	55
Alternative Assessment Design	57
Support for Assessment Design	59
Professional Development and Alternative Assessments	60

Project Description6	51
Resources6	52
Roles and Responsibilities	53
Potential Barriers6	54
Proposal for Implementation and Timetable6	54
Project Evaluation Plan6	55
Project Implications	57
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	58
Project Strengths and Limitations	58
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches	71
Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and	
Change	71
Reflection on the Importance of the Work	73
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research	74
Conclusion	75
References	76
Appendix A: The Project	91
Appendix B: Interview Protocol)4
Appendix C: Document Analysis Protocol)6
Appendix D: Alternative Assessment Professional Development Evaluation10	38

List of Tables

Table 1. Social Studies Regents Scores, 2016	3
Table 2. Social Studies Regents Scores, 2017	3

Section 1: The Problem

The Local Problem

In the state of New York, students with individualized education programs (IEPs) often have lower standardized test scores and higher rates of failure than general education students (New York State Report Card, 2018). Many schools in New York incorporate the inclusion model to place students with IEPs in classrooms. Students in inclusion classes are expected to pass the same state standardized tests in New York, the Regents exams, as the regular education students. Because teacher performance scores in New York are partially tied to these test scores, many teachers prepare students by modeling summative class assessments based on the Regents format (social studies department meeting, 2019). This illustrates the impact Regents testing can have on the classroom.

Students in inclusion classrooms comprise both students with IEPs and general education students (Duchaine et al., 2021). Inclusion classrooms consist of a combination of students with IEPs and general education students with two teachers leading the classroom (Faraclas, 2018). One form of accommodation comes in the form of alternate assessments, which have become common in the field of education (Chivu et al., 2018). Certain states have begun to adopt alternate assessments based on expectations for students with IEPs. Keith (2021) discussed research that, in Michigan, students with autism whose teachers used alternative assessments performed better than their peers who were only assessed one way. These changes show that the use of alternative assessments can help improve outcomes for all students.

The problem is that students with IEPs in social studies classes at the local site are performing below grade level (New York State Report Card, 2018). More recent data cannot be obtained due to the cancellation of Regents exams during the COVID-19 pandemic. The local research site is a school district in New York. The high school has a student population of about 1,500 students. Students in the high school are placed in either general education classrooms, Advanced Placement classes, inclusion classrooms, or self-contained classrooms. The students with IEPs receive accommodations and modifications with the goal of allowing them to perform at the same level as the general education students. These students are given traditional assessments based on the New York state Regents examination. Additionally, even teachers of those classes at the local research site that do not culminate in a Regents examination are encouraged, but not required, by the department chair to structure their assessments based solely on the Regents exam (department meeting, 2019). During a 2019 superintendent's conference day, the director of social studies noted that the midterm exams should reflect the Regents exams (department meeting, 2019).

Rationale

Students with IEPs in classes in the social studies department at the local site are performing below their grade-level peers. On the 2018 Transition Regents Exam in Global History and Geography, 99% of general education students received a proficient score, but only 48% of students with IEPs met proficiency. In the same year on the U.S. History and Government Regents, 99% of students earned proficient scores, and 93% of students with IEPs met this standard (New York State Report Card, 2018). This shows

that, despite the current accommodations and modifications offered by the district, students with IEPs are not performing on par with their general education counterparts. This problem has existed for several years. However, newer research is not available due to the cancellation of the Regents exam during the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, the U.S. History Regents was canceled in 2022 due to concerns about questions on the test after a recent shooting in Buffalo, New York.

Table 1Social Studies Regents Scores, 2016

Global History and Geography Regents					
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	
Students	# students assessed	scoring at	scoring at	scoring at	
		or above 55	or above 65	or above 85	
Total	410	98%	94%	66%	
General education	351	100%	99%	74%	
Students with IEPs	59	85%	66%	20%	
U.S. History and Government Regents					
Total	424	99%	97%	80%	
General education	390	100%	99%	84%	
Students with IEPs	34	94%	79%	44%	

Source: New York State Report Card (2016)

Table 2
Social Studies Regents Scores, 2017

Global History and Geography Regents					
		Percentage	Percentage	Percentage	
Students	# students assessed	scoring at	scoring at	scoring at	
		or above 55	or above 65	or above 85	
Total	432	96%	92%	63%	
General education	358	100%	99%	73%	
Students with IEPs	74	77%	58%	11%	
U.S. History and Government Regents					
Total	407	99%	97%	74%	
General education	359	100%	99%	81%	
Students with IEPs	48	90%	77%	21%	

Source: New York State Report Card (2017)

Students who receive alternative assessments not only score better on the assessment but often report finding the assessment more meaningful (Pereira et al., 2022). Students learn in a variety of ways, but they also express that learning in numerous ways. When students are assessed, they are expressing their knowledge and what they have learned. Even though students can express learning in several ways, testing in the local school district in New York is based on one model. Alternative assessments are particularly effective in measuring the knowledge of students with IEPs, especially when based on alternative expectations (Frey & Gillispie, 2018). Part of the rationale for implementing alternative assessments is that students with IEPs are often harmed the most by a single standardized assessment (Keith, 2021). These students who are performing poorly on the standard assessment are not offered another avenue to assess their knowledge. Many other states have begun to design and adopt alternative assessments at the state level and implement them into their local curricula (Clark & Karvonen, 2021).

& Gillispie, 2018). Much is done within the local school to support students with IEPs.

There is a heavy focus on differentiated instruction, with grading policies designed to be flexible in classes to meet individual student and teacher demands. Students with IEPs are often not supported when it comes to assessment design (Smucker, 2022). The assessments are often designed around a standardized test and are not based on individual student capabilities or local standards (Pecheone, 2018). Alternative assessments have

been shown to benefit students with IEPs by providing them with an assessment style in line with their ability to express knowledge (Andersen et al., 2018).

The purpose of this study was to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support academic achievement in social studies classes for students with IEPs. By understanding why alternative assessments are or are not being used, changes can be made to support students with IEPs. These changes could result in improved comprehension for students with IEPs and provide teachers with more options for assessments in their classrooms.

Definitions of Terms

For this study, the following terms are used:

Alternative assessment: Any assessments outside of what is viewed as the traditional assessments of multiple-choice, true—false, and short answer questions. Alternative assessments are viewed as being more student centered than traditional assessments (Becker et al., 2023).

Assessment: The process of measuring a student's acquisition of knowledge. Assessment is an evidence collection process used to measure student learning and understanding of the curriculum (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018).

Formative assessment: Measures student learning as part of the process. Formative assessments are given more frequently than summative assessments to measure whether students have grasped the material before continuing on with the curriculum (Ahmed & Shah, 2019).

Individualized Education Program (IEP): A legal document mandated by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act of 2004 that outlines special education services for a student to receive including modifications to instruction, accommodations for testing, and any related services the student receives (Curro & Foo, 2022).

Summative assessment: Measures a student's long-term achievement and understanding of the material. Summative assessments are given less frequently than formative assessments are (Ahmed & Shah, 2019).

Traditional assessment: Any assessment that primarily uses multiple-choice, true–false, and short answer questions. These types of questions are often used in standardized assessments (Becker et al., 2023).

Significance of the Study

Alternative assessments allow students to express their knowledge in a variety of ways. The findings of this study may have a lasting effect on the social studies department in the local school district. The information from this study was used to create a project (Appendix A) to assist teachers in using various forms of assessment by addressing the reasons teachers are not currently implementing alternative assessments and providing them with support. This may help to close the gap in practice and give students with IEPs a broader range in expressing their knowledge. By closing this gap in practice, students with IEPs may be assessed in a way that matches their learning style.

The material gathered from this study may have a meaningful impact on the site of the study. The use of alternative assessments has not been adopted by the department as official policy, which could limit its use by teachers. Furthermore, by assessing

teachers' attitudes and perceptions, a plan was created to help teachers by crafting an appropriate policy. The use of alternative assessments helps all students but especially the most vulnerable student populations (Frey & Gillispie, 2018). Alternative assessments have been shown to improve the understanding of the curriculum. Because alternative assessments allow for more access to the curriculum and provide for expressive assessments, students who do not learn through traditional formats benefit (Frey & Gillispie, 2018). Studies have shown that special education teachers, in particular, indicate that their students struggle to access the curriculum and that alternative assessments can alleviate this problem (LaRon & Bruno, 2018; Lazarus et al., 2022).

Understanding teachers' perceptions regarding alternative assessments is key to making a positive social change and improving education of district students. Teachers' perceptions would allow for the understanding of their current implementation and design of alternative assessments. This would help to understand how assessments are designed to best support students. Without doing so, the district would risk increasing numbers of students who struggle to meet the requirement to pass standardized tests.

Research Questions

RQ1: What are social studies teachers' perceptions regarding the benefits of using alternative assessments to support the academic achievement of students with IEPs?

RQ2: What type of support do social studies teachers perceive as needed to effectively use alternative assessments to support academic achievement for students with IEPs?

Review of the Literature

The purpose of this study was to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support academic achievement in social studies classes for students with IEPs. An understanding of this phenomenon would allow for policy changes that implement best practices and allow students to better express themselves on their assessments. Assessment is a valued part of education that teachers are often underprepared for (Şenel et al., 2018).

This section will cover a review of previous research conducted on the history and variety of assessments. This history will detail current and historical challenges to the implementation of effective assessments. The literature used in this review was thoroughly researched to ensure saturation. I used Education Source, ERIC, and SAGE Journals, among other databases. Keywords and phrases used to search for articles were alternative education, service learning, alternative assessments, differentiated assessments, students with IEPs, and inclusion. alternative assessments, service learning, and students with IEPs.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework used for this case study is interpretivism.

Interpretivism is a conceptual framework in which social scientists grasp the subjective meaning of social action (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020; Kankam, 2019). Interpretivism looks at reality from the lens of the participants' views and lived experiences (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020). The authors noted that the world is a matter of perspective, and the same event can be viewed differently depending on the individual. Because

everyone sees the world differently, they also see the best method of accomplishment differently (Rapley, 2018). Grasping the meaning of social actions can be difficult because of the numerous variables that factor into the cause of actions. Actions are shaped by both what people do intentionally and their circumstances (Rapley, 2018).

The case study being conducted is well supported by the theory of interpretivism. A case study allows for a more personal view of the participants and the data. By interviewing my subjects, I collected their personal recollections and perceptions of the problems. With the document analysis I conducted on the lesson plans I reviewed the structure and design of assessments created by these teachers. In this study, I looked at the social action of assessment to develop a better understanding of teacher use of assessment and the role that plays in assessment design can be better understood.

Interpretative research is more subjective than objective (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020), allowing for the analysis of interview data as opposed to hard statistics.

Teachers who are uninformed about the use and implementation of assessments may not see changes to assessments as the solution. Teachers with higher assessment literacy are more capable of implementing successful alternative assessments (Stiggins, 1991). Additionally, alternative assessments have been shown to close achievement gaps and help students view their assessment experience more positively (Alokozaya, 2022). Phongsirikul (2018) found that teachers' personal perceptions influence the impact they have in a number of areas including assessment. Interpretivism used in this way allows the research to reflect not only the current state of assessment but teacher attitudes toward an appropriate change. This approach is important because the goal of this study was

viewing teacher paradigms. Using the interpretive model helps to structure the research to uniquely look at these paradigms and focus on how they impact a teacher's practice (Kankam, 2019). Stiggins (1991) found that teachers' views of alternative assessments are a major challenge to successfully implementing new assessments. By understanding the perspectives that have resulted in a lack of alternative assessments, changes can be made to incorporate them.

Review of the Broader Problem

Assessing students is not always an easy task, nor is determining the right assessment to give (Al-Mahrooqi & Denman, 2018). Traditionally, classroom assessments are divided into two main forms: summative assessments and formative assessments. Summative assessments are a reflection of what students have learned in the past, while formative assessments are an assessment of student progress and learning needed to adjust instruction (Ahmed et al., 2019). Each form of assessment has a different goal. Summative assessments are used to measure learning outcomes and the effectiveness of methodology. Formative assessments, however, can be used to determine the strengths and weaknesses of teaching and learning methods (Chivu et al., 2018). These two forms do not include psychological testing, such as aptitude tests, which are used to "predict how well students are likely to perform in a subsequent educational setting" (Popham, 1999, p. 8).

Traditional assessments include oral, written, and practical assessments, which most preservice teachers are taught in their college training (Chivu et al., 2019). These are often the same design as many standardized tests. However, assessments can be

conducted in numerous different ways (Al-Mahrooqi & Denman, 2018). Assessments and evaluations encompass more than just memorized information (Chivu et al., 2019). The largest obstacle to implementing a variety of these assessments is a lack of assessment literacy.

Assessment Systems

Douglas (2016) divided assessments into four basic systems measured by how inclusive the assessments are: (a) total exclusion, (b) accommodated systems, (c) alternative systems, and (d) universally designed systems. Total exclusion is when an assessment leaves out a particular group entirely (Douglas et al., 2016). These assessments often leave out students with IEPs (Andersen et al., 2018; Khan, 2020). Accommodated systems are when assessments or their parameters are modified to include students with IEPs (Douglas et al., 2016). Often these assessments incorporate universal accommodations such as large-print tests, providing definitions for difficult vocabulary, or other assistance that might benefit students with IEPs. These assessments can also allow for individual modifications based on the student.

The final two systems attempt to account for as many stakeholders as possible. Alternative systems are when a range of assessments with different criteria are created with varying levels of complexity, and students are given the choice to select which assessment best fits their needs and abilities (Douglas et al., 2016). Assessments such as these can account for each student's current ability rather than what their perceived ability should be. These assessments benefit students performing both above and below grade level. Universally designed systems are when a single assessment is crafted so that

it can be given to all students (Douglas et al., 2016). While this is the goal of many assessments, it is the most difficult to incorporate in practice.

Assessment Designs

One of the most difficult aspects of assessments is assessment design. Technical issues in the design of assessments can exclude vulnerable groups (Frey & Gillispie, 2018; Hathcoat, 2018). These can be simple design choices such as the language used in the questions. A significant problem in assessment design and use is teacher perceptions. When teachers view the results of an assessment as irrelevant, it rarely results in meaningful changes in instruction. This can be a challenge when implementing new forms of assessment. Teachers can use new and innovative assessments because they are directed to do so, but if there is no teacher buy-in, these new assessments will not provide meaningful change (Clark & Karvonen, 2021).

Another obstacle is a misunderstanding of the purpose of performance on assessments. As previously discussed, both formative and summative assessments have inherently different goals. Creating assessments for learning, rather than assessments of learning, helps to close achievement gaps (Hirsh et al., 2022). Additionally, many teachers will view a singular data source and generalize those results regardless of whether there are contradictions in these findings. Assessment data are more reliable when coming from multiple data sources (Ma & Wink, 2019). Finally, poor student performance on an assessment can occur for different reasons. A student failing to complete a task could be a result of either a lack of ability or a lack of understanding of the assessment (Hathcoat, 2018).

These shortcomings do not mean that effective assessments are beyond the reach of educators. Research can guide educators on the creation of effective assessments. Assessments should also be locally designed whenever possible. Skills and content knowledge of students varies greatly throughout the United States (Minjong, 2018). Improving the quality and effectiveness of formative assessments raises student performance on summative assessments (Dini et al., 2020). This allows students to build on prior knowledge and help close previous deficits. Effective assessments provide information about the ongoing learning process (Bin Mubayrik, 2020). Alternative assessments can help inform instruction in the classroom (Andersen et al., 2018).

Types of Alternative Assessments

Going beyond Becker et al.'s (2023) definition, alternative assessments are assessments outside the scope of traditional assessments, and alternative assessments encompass a vast array of options. These options allow for a variety of methods that are not present on traditional assessments. Skills utilized on these assessments can help students to better express their knowledge. Assessment methods should be aligned with the intended achievement targets (Andersen et al., 2018).

One form of alternative assessment that has been adopted on both the secondary and postsecondary level is service learning. Service learning is an alternative assessment that combines classroom instruction with community service (Christensen & Woodland, 2018). In this sense, alternative assessments can also be called *active assessments* (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Service-learning assessments can help to assess student abilities and knowledge in a practical sense while also building community relations.

When surveyed, those who participated in service learning showed higher rates of understanding satisfaction with their education than those evaluated via traditional means (Christensen & Woodland, 2018).

Alternative assessments often have a different aim than traditional assessments (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). While many traditional assessments are targeted to one particular content area or skill, alternative assessments can reach a broader audience. The variety offered by alternative assessments means that student choice can play a larger role in the assessment process. Alternative assessments include portfolios, investigations, task assessments, rater checklists, and self-evaluations (Chivu et al., 2018). Scratch and Challenge boards are digital forms of alternative assessment that engage students in the lesson while allowing teachers to view student progress (Sulaiman et al., 2021). Systematic observations are a valuable assessment form that allows teachers to gather information difficult to obtain in traditional assessments (Chivu et al., 2018).

Many alternative assessments have students working with a visual medium rather than a reading or writing format. Drawing can be an effective method of alternative assessment among children (Söküt Açar et al., 2019). Service-learning assessments can have practical application of assessments including having medical students read MRI scans and conduct risk assessments based on the results (Deignan & Brown, 2016). Learning maps models are visual representations of the relationship among various aspects associated with the content (Bechard et al., 2019).

Alternative assessments also bring agency to students in a way they are usually not given in the assessment process. Allowing student choice in assessment selection is a

great way to provide students with the power of their assessment results. Self-assessment and peer-assessment are two of the most common alternative assessments (Yan et al., 2023). Student-designed assessments are also a form of alternative assessment (Vasu et al., 2022).

The goal of alternative assessments is to be inclusive. Inclusive assessments are assessments that allow for everyone to receive support to participate in the assessment, including traditionally excluded populations such as students with IEPs (Goegan et al., 2018). These assessments strive to create equity among all students. Equitable assessments are assessments that allow all participants to demonstrate their knowledge or abilities (Andersen et al., 2018). This allows students to demonstrate their individual knowledge or abilities and helps to better personalize assistance in improving students' education. The goal of inclusion education includes not leaving anyone out and allowing for all students to have active participation in school life (Duchaine et al., 2021).

Standardized Testing

One of the most widely used forms of assessment is standardized testing. The use of standardized testing presents two major challenges. The first challenge is how the information from these assessments is used. Poor understanding of what standardized tests are or what they should be used for results in the creation of poorly designed educational policy (Minjong, 2018). Second, standardized test design often precludes these tests from being accessible to all students (Betzig, 2021; Pecheone, 2018).

Standardized assessments are used at both the state and national level. In New York state, to graduate from high school, a student must receive credit for five Regents

examinations. On the national level, students can take standardized exams such as the SATs and the ACTs. National assessments serve multiple purposes, such as awarding scholarships and determining if students are meeting goals set by policy makers (Khan, 2020). Students who struggle on traditional assessments begin with an inherent disadvantage. Standardized assessments also put tremendous pressure on schools. Schools struggle to balance teacher accountability and the needs of teachers and students in the classroom (Pereira et al., 2022). This added pressure forces teachers to put more focus on standardized tests. A student's educational future can be determined by how well they score on standardized tests (Khan, 2020).

Standardized tests are used to measure how students perform compared to the norm. This means that, for a standardized test to be considered valid, questions on which large numbers of students perform well inherently cannot make up large portions of the test (Popham, 1999). Because the test results are designed to represent a bell curve, standardized tests measure every student by what the perceived norm should be. Personal circumstance can affect a learner's performance on an assessment and fail to provide accurate data (Betzig, 2021). Furthermore, despite being standardized, there are metrics that can account for variability. Outcomes on standardized tests can vary based on the textbook used (Popham, 1999). Standardized tests are also hampered from issues with reliability measurements. Direct assessments which demonstrate an application of skill provide a more reliable assessment of ability than generalized assessments which demonstrate the memorization of information (Hathcoat, 2018).

The inherent design of standardized test also poses a serious obstacle to their validity. Standardized tests have a design bias against multilingual and minority students (Khan, 2020). Standardized administration of assessments can restrict a student's access to accommodations (Clark & Karvonen, 2021). This means that minority students, who are already overrepresented in special education, are often at a double disadvantage. In this case, the norm being represented is not a true representation of the population.

The flaws in standardized tests are often by design. Standardized tests, by design, are often not innovative because they "represent continuity and stability" (Deignan & Brown, 2016 p. 380). The standardization part of standardized testing prevents innovation and forces a reliance on simpler tasks, such as true—false questions or standardized multiple-choice questions. Both of these simpler tasks have serious flaws. When poorly designed, true—false tests allow for blind guessing with a reasonable probability for success (Brabec et al., 2021). Even the father of standardized tests later said that multiple-choice standardized tests are more harmful than helpful to the educational process (Khan, 2020).

All these issues are made worse by the fact that standardized test scores are often used by policy makers to make decisions for schools (Minjong, 2018; Popham, 1999). Often a correlation is seen between these scores and the quality of education. In fact, districts where teachers focus on test content have students who perform better on standardized tests but do not necessarily have a better quality of education (Popham, 1999). This push led to schools adopt more traditional assessments. Traditional assessments have led to teacher attitudes that assessments do not foster learning but

simply measure performance (Learned, 2020). These tests prevent students from experiencing valuable assessments that can not only aid in instruction, but also measure qualities that are looked for in individuals. Aspects of learning such as commitment, leadership, and collaboration are rarely assessed or utilized in traditional assessments (Greenwald & Zukoski, 2018; Sulaiman et al., 2021).

Assessment and Students with IEPs

Students with IEPs fall into many categories of students with IEPs. These students range from simple learning disabilities to students with autism. Often, the students most harmed by traditional assessments are students with IEPs (Frey & Gillispie, 2018). In many states, alternative assessments are not available for large scale statewide standardized assessments (Khan, 2020). Even when they are available, most students with IEPs in the study take the general large-scale assessment rather than the alternative assessment (Keith, 2021). This is even though alternative assessments benefit students with IEPs who perform poorly more often than other students (Rhim & The Center for Learner Equity, 2021). Students with autism are more likely to find the large-scale assessment is not appropriate for them than general education students (Keith, 2021). This participation in large-scale assessments is often mandatory. The previously mandated No Child Left Behind (NCLB) law mandated that students with IEPs be taught the content that their age-appropriate peers be taught (Clark & Karvonen, 2021). Teachers of students with IEPs are required to align Common Core State Standards, Individualized Education Programs, and state and local assessments (Frey & Gillispie, 2018).

Teacher surveys show that they generally support allowing students to take alternative assessments (Phongsirikul, 2018). Teachers report students with significant delays who are classified as having autism on their IEP should be offered alternative assessments (Keith, 2021). Students with IEPs benefit from modified assessments that are designed to meet their needs (Faraclas, 2018). The struggle here is appropriately designing assessments so as account for students with IEPs. Assessments that accommodate students with IEPs were found to be of higher quality (Boutin, 2021). Despite this, most teachers report feeling unprepared to adequately help students with IEPs (Faraclas, 2018).

Much of the focus on students and assessments deals with student placement. IDEA requires that all students receive a free education in the least restrictive environment (Clark & Karvonen, 2021). This least restrictive environment varies from student to student. Nationally, 62% of students with IEPs received their instruction in a regular education classroom (Faraclas, 2018). The more time a student spends in a general education setting, the more likely they are to take the large-scale assessment instead of alternative assessments (Keith, 2021). When provided with specially designed instruction and adequate support, students with IEPs can perform successfully in general education classrooms (Andersen et al., 2018). Co-teaching is a model in which a special education and general education teacher work in the same classroom designing lessons and delivering content (Faraclas, 2018). However, the issue becomes when students outside of the general education classroom are ignored. Students outside of the general

education curriculum are more likely to not participate in mandatory assessments at all whether it be traditional or alternative (Keith, 2021).

Impact of Alternative Assessments Beyond the Classroom

Alternative assessments can have positive benefits on teachers, the community, the school, and, of course, the students. Many of these benefits not only make meaningful community improvements but can also improve the educational quality of a school.

Alternative assessments can have an impact on the lives of students that is memorable beyond simply the content they reinforced.

Teachers can find the aspect of assessment design overwhelming. Use of alternative assessments can help to increase the responsibility of the learner in education (Pereira et al., 2022). This gives students more agency and helps the teacher fulfill the role of facilitator. Alternative assessments are also more capable of fostering intrinsic motivation in comparison to traditional assessment (Sulaiman et al., 2021). By furthering a student's intrinsic motivation, they are less likely to come into conflict with the teacher in the future. Teachers who linked summative and formative assessments stressed creating tests that provide a better understanding of students' ability (Ahmed et al., 2019).

Alternative assessments such as service-learning are also excellent at improving school and community relations. Schools that partake in alternative assessments develop better school-community relationships (Christensen & Woodland, 2018). Administration of alternative assessments allows for interaction and hands-on assessments (Chivu et al., 2018). Students' performances in staged clinical trials were more closely correlated to their scores on alternative assessments than on traditional assessments (Deignan &

Brown, 2016). Conducting these trials can help expose students to community stakeholders and provide a more positive view of the schooling system. Students in these programs experience real world applications of their knowledge (Chivu et al., 2018; Christensen & Woodland, 2018).

The use of alternative assessments also presents benefits to students beyond learning objectives. Using portfolios allows students to demonstrate their uniqueness and creativity (Chivu et al., 2018). Alternative assessments can be minimally intrusive on the education setting by being activities which are fun and engaging (Al-Mahrooqi & Denman, 2018). Alternative assessments can be less stressful for students than traditional assessments (Frey & Gillispie, 2018). This can be especially important for students with anxiety.

Creating an enjoyable educational environment can also help to foster better comprehension and learning. Turning mental images into drawings has been shown to help connect comprehension and learning (Söküt Açar et al., 2019). This helps students view their subjects in more concrete terms. Alternative assessments are more realistic and student-centered than traditional assessments (Becker et al., 2023; Sulaiman, Rahim, Wong, & Jaafar, 2021). A significant and meaningful improvement was found in students who were given drawing assessments as opposed to those who were not (Söküt Açar et al., 2019). Not only are they more enjoyable, but the use of alternative assessments allows for collaborative assessment (Greenwald & Zukoski, 2018). When viewed as a whole, the results collected from alternative assessments offer a more holistic view of learning than traditional assessments (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018).

Effective Assessments

With time and patience, alternative assessments can be an effective part of the classroom. Certain criteria have been found to make effective alternative assessments. Assessments should have clearly defined expectations and directions (Hathcoat, 2018). This ensures that students understand the directions and purpose of the assessment. Alternative assessments can be scaffolded to account for student ability (Andersen et al., 2018). Scaffolding assessments allows teachers to focus on what is possible for each student rather than what is typical of the student population as a whole and provides a clearer picture of student ability (Hathcoat, 2018). Teachers should be mindful that certain types of alternative assessments such as service learning require detailed planning (Christensen & Woodland, 2018). Finally, feedback and results are very important and should be provided in a timely manner (Al-Mahrooqi & Denman, 2018).

Positive change is difficult to make without stakeholder buy-in. The views that students, educators, and even the public have regarding assessments play a large role in not only how effective assessments are, but which types of assessments are given.

Understanding these views helps to create better assessments and can help in changing the conversation about what makes an effective assessment (Carriere et al., 2020).

The primary stakeholder in any schooling system is the student. The entire purpose of education is the translation of knowledge to students. Despite this, student input is often left out of consideration in assessment design. Understanding student perceptions of assessments shows that students tend to favor alternative assessments. Students associate traditional assessments with poor learning and lack of control and

view them as arbitrary and irrelevant. On the contrary, students perceive alternative assessments as high-quality learning, active learning, and meaningful tasks (Pereira et al., 2022). This includes various forms of alternative assessments. Students reported high levels of satisfaction with service-learning programs (Christensen & Woodland, 2018). In an economics class, students preferred portfolio as their method of assessment (Chivu et al., 2018).

When given the choice, students tend to choose assessment methods in which they can be more involved in the assessment process (Andrade, 2019). Students who participated in service-learning programs felt more prepared than students who did not and scored better on senior assessment tests and alumni surveyed responded with continued satisfaction with service-learning programs (Christensen & Woodland, 2018). Higher education students view traditional assessments as detrimental to learning (Pereira et al., 2022).

Attitudes Toward Alternative Assessments

Students are not the only group of stakeholders who prefer alternative assessments. Students and teachers report positive attitudes towards alternative assessments (Phongsirikul, 2018). Even teachers who struggle to implement alternative assessments report having positive attitudes towards them (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Many educators do not believe that standardized tests provide adequate information about students (Chivu et al., 2018). This attitude has led to wider adoption of alternative assessments. Teachers of students with IEPs especially feel that alternative assessments provide students with greater access to the general education curriculum

(Frey & Gillispie, 2018). Even within the higher education community, there have been calls for more diverse methods of assessment than essays, exams, and dissertations (Pereira et al., 2022).

Despite these beliefs, public perception continues to support the use of standardized tests. Standardized test scores have often been linked to public perceptions on teacher effectiveness (Popham, 1999). Accountability systems can lead to teachers reducing the validity of assessments to raise test scores (Şenel et al., 2018). In many states, these tests are tied to teacher evaluation scores. This view often stems from a misunderstanding of the purpose of standardized tests (Couch II, 2021). In certain areas, however, there has been a push by policy makers to further adopt alternative assessments.

Using Alternative Assessments

Implementation of alternative assessments can meet resistance (Learned et al., 2020). Using new or innovative assessments comes with new challenges and risks (Pecheone, 2018). Teachers may find themselves unprepared, students may be confused by new assessments or directions, or schools may be resistant to taking risks. Alternative assessments require considerably more time and effort from teachers than traditional assessments (Pecheone, 2018). While struggling to complete their curriculum, teachers also worry about standardized testing. High stakes assessments cause teachers to use standardized assessments as models for classroom instruction (Clark & Karvonen, 2021). This means that longer assessments which consume valuable instructional and preparation time can be an obstacle. Teachers also report pressure from the educational system on the design of their assessments (Şenel et al., 2018).

The majority of assessments that a student takes are usually locally designed (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Either by the individual teacher, or sometimes collaboratively, these assessments are the bulk of what students experience when they take an assessment. Numerous factors can impact what types of assessments teachers give. Teacher knowledge and proficiency plays a large role in assessment design (Şenel et al., 2018). Teachers who receive training on alternative assessments are more likely to implement alternative assessments (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Despite knowing this, teachers report having a lack of knowledge in the implementation and design of alternative assessments (Şenel et al., 2018). Educators should also be familiar with their students, not just their assessments. Teachers who were familiar with their students' classroom performance had students who scored higher (Ahmed et al., 2019).

Teachers should be well versed in both formative and summative assessments (Ahmed et al., 2019). Teacher training was shown to improve the ability of teachers to design inclusive assessments (Faraclas, 2018). As each method of assessment has different purposes, teachers cannot rely solely on formative or summative assessments; they need to be able to use both. Teacher assessment literacy is an important factor in the design of assessments. This means that teachers need to be adequately trained and need to believe the changes will create positive outcomes for their students. Teachers are more likely to implement what they learn in professional development when they buy-into the material (Swaran Singh et al., 2022). The alternative is students who instead focus mainly on summative assessments which stress content over skills (Ahmed et al., 2019).

Implications

The results of this study have the potential to create positive social change at the local site. The data from this study provided us with insight into teachers' attitudes towards alternative assessments which allowed the researcher to create an effective professional development plan to assist teachers in using alternative assessments (Swaran Singh et al., 2022).

Based on the findings of this study, a professional development plan was created where teachers were informed of the benefits of alternative assessments, especially for students with IEPs. The proposed workshop also addressed the numerous forms alternative assessments can take to show teachers the versatility of alternative assessments and how teachers can adapt alternative assessments to fit with their material and teaching style (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Teachers were given an opportunity to create alternative assessments to use in their classrooms. Appropriate professional development has been shown to increase teacher use of alternative assessments (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018).

The authors noted in the literature review showed that most teachers do, in fact, have positive views towards alternative assessments. However, a positive attitude alone does not mean that teachers are using alternative assessments. By analyzing the design of these teachers' assignments and determining if they are appropriately created, a determination was reached on the effectiveness of the assessments. The teachers were found to be using traditional assessments as opposed to alternative assessments. If teachers were using alternative assessments properly, the next step would have been to

look for other reasons for the achievement gap. If assessments cannot make an impact, it is vital to determine what can.

Summary

This section defined the policy of assessments at the site to be studied. It further defined the types of assessments currently administered and the relevant definitions. The research questions and process were outlined as was the framework under which the study will be conducted. Interpretivism was chosen as the framework because of its focus on the individual perceptions (Alharahsheh & Pius, 2020).

Section 2: The Methodology

Research Design and Approach

The purpose of this study was to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support academic achievement in social studies classes for students with IEPs. The most appropriate research design for this topic was a case study. A case study allows for a more holistic view of the research and its participants and aligns with the purpose of this study and the nature of the research questions. I chose this methodological tradition because a qualitative approach would allow me to view phenomena that cannot be statistically quantified (see Ravitch & Carl, 2020). Case studies allow for the direct observation of the topic being studied and to better understand the relationship between the research participants and the topic being studied (Nilmanat & Kurniawan, 2021). In this research, the topic being studied was alternative assessments, and the participants were teachers in the local school district. This bounds the research to a specific group.

Case studies are widely used in social sciences and important in the field of education. Case studies are used to analyze groups or a phenomenon (Sibbald et al., 2021). One of the primary data points for this study was teacher interviews. Teacher interviews allow for the direct collection of data (Ravitch & Carl 2020). Additionally, due to the demographic composition of the district ethnography would not be appropriate. Viewing the data as a nuanced result of ethnicity would not provide a full and accurate picture (Sherman et al., 2021).

Participants

This case study was conducted in a school district located in New York. All participants were members of a high school social studies department that has 17 members. All participants teach classes that require the administration of state standardized assessments known as the Regents. In social studies classes in New York State, there are two Regents: one at the end of sophomore year, the Regents Exam in Global History and Geography II, and one at the end of junior year, which is the Regents Exam in U.S. History and Government.

Criteria for Selecting Participants

The setting was familiar to me as the researcher, and I had access to the setting and therefore a convenience sampling strategy was used. The participants were selected only from sophomore and junior classes because those classes conclude with a state assessment. All participating teachers have students with IEPs in their classroom. Students with IEPs are often the students who benefit the most from alternative assessments (Andersen et al., 2018); therefore, I had a particular interest in the benefits this research could have for them.

Eight educators, all who meet the criteria outlined above, were invited to participate. This range provided me with an appropriate amount of data while also ensuring a diverse cross section of teachers. Participants in the study were not compensated and their participation was voluntary.

Procedures for Gaining Access to Participants

The local district employs directors to oversee departments on a district level. Each building has a teacher who is designated as the instructional specialist for their building. The instructional specialist knows the teachers in the department and helps to coordinate professional development and departmental responsibilities. To gain access to the appropriate participants, an e-mail was sent to the instructional specialist of social studies for the building to find teachers who would meet the appropriate criteria. The instructional specialist provided the e-mail addresses of all teachers who met the requirements to participate in the study. Participants were then contacted through the district e-mail.

Establishing Researcher-Participant Relationship

To help establish a working relationship with the participants, in the introduction e-mail, I outlined why they were being contacted and how their participation could help to benefit them and their students. When meeting with the participants, I was polite and respectful. Before interviewing them, I spoke about my passion for education and history in the district. I inquired about their history as well and discussed various topics of interest. All the participants were welcoming and interested in not only the research, but the process as well. The positive interactions with the participants helped to make the process more comfortable.

Data Collection

The data for this study were collected through a combination of interviews and a document analysis of lesson plans and assessments. These methods were used to stay in

line with the qualitative design of the study. I collected qualitative data to help answer the research questions because qualitative data allows for a look at the individual experiences of the teachers to allow for a larger picture to be seen. The data in this case were reviewed to help understand both the teachers' current assessment practices and their training or experience with assessments.

Instruments

In this case study, I used two main sources of data: interviews and lesson plans. The interviews were conducted on site at the school building. Interviews are a common tool used in qualitative research because they allow participants to express their perceptions of the phenomena (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). I also examined lesson plans to see if and how alternate assessments are being used in the classroom. These data points helped me answer the research questions.

The interview questions were created to help determine what teachers understood about alternative assessments and how often they are used. I created the questions myself. I was looking at what information would be needed to answer the two research questions of the case study. I wrote a protocol that I followed during the interviews. The protocol, which can be found in Appendix B, outlines a script of the steps in the interview as well as the interview questions. An interview protocol helps to ensure that each interview is conducted with the same standard in mind and that all participants in the study are provided the same directions. This consistency helps not only the research, but helped me as a researcher as well. The protocol provided me with a structured script that ensured I did not forget any important steps when conducting the interviews (Yeong et al., 2018).

Participants were contacted through their school e-mail addresses and invited to be a part of the study. Teachers who responded to the email were scheduled for an interview. All the interviews, except for one, were conducted after school. A single interview was conducted before school due to the teacher's personal schedule. All interviews were conducted outside of the school day. Participating teachers were also asked to share a lesson plan and assessment for analysis. Lesson plans were collected as a physical copy with all identifying information redacted.

The information in the email outlined the roles and responsibilities of both the participants and me. The email provided a rationale and explanation that this study is being conducted as part of the completion of an advanced degree program. Additionally, I let participants know they would be asked to complete a short survey of questions as well as a document analysis of their lesson plans (Appendix C). Finally, the email ended with a statement regarding the confidentiality of the information. I also reviewed this confidentiality policy during the interview process.

Participants were asked to reply to an informed consent form agreeing to participate in the research. The form once again outlined the need for the collection of the information and what the intended use was. Participants were informed of the nature of the information that would be collected and advised they were under no obligation, legal or otherwise, to participate. The form also included a section on the risks and benefits of participating in a study of this nature. The form concluded with a statement of consent. Teachers replied their consent by email after receiving a copy of the form. Only teachers

who responded giving consent were interviewed. Teachers who did not respond were excluded as participants in this study.

Teachers invited to participate in the study had the option of having their interview conducted either in person or through an online conferencing tool (e.g., Google Meet). All interviews were conducted in person. The interviews were audio recorded to ensure accuracy in the data collected. Participants were informed prior to the interviews, and all consented to being recorded. I reviewed copies of the provided lesson plans and assessments as part of a document analysis.

At the time of the research, I was employed by the school district in the building where the case study took place. At the time, I worked in the district as a special education teacher in the local school. I taught a mixture of inclusion and self-contained classes. I was working as a special education teacher in the school building where the research was conducted. This allowed for both access and a professional setting to conduct the research.

To ensure that all individuals contacted felt comfortable, I used neutral language in all communications. I ensured that no participant felt coerced into being a part of the research. No participant received financial compensation or any special considerations, which are two of the most identified forms of coercion (Miller & Kreiner, 2008). Steps were also taken to prevent researcher bias. The department in which the research was conducted is separate from the department I was employed in. They have separate offices for their faculty to conduct business in, as well as separate meetings and directors.

Conference day activities and communication channels are separate for the two departments, as well.

Data Analysis

The data collected from the interviews were analyzed once all interviews were completed. No data were analyzed until all data were collected. To ensure the data were appropriately analyzed, I transcribed interviews verbatim from the recordings of the interviews using speech-to-text software, which I then proofread. The data were transcribed into a Microsoft Word document so that they could be easily searched and accessed.

Analysis of the Interview Data

Once data were collected, I began the process of coding. Coding is the process of analyzing information—in this case, interview answers and documents—to find common themes and phrases. Codes correlate to words, phrases, or sentences as a way of appropriately grouping qualitative data (Sevilmiş & Yıldız, 2021). In this study, I used both a priori and inductive coding. The a priori codes gathered from the literature review were *alternative assessments*, *multiple-choice*, *Regents*, and *accommodations*. After these four codes were exhausted, I then searched the data for reoccurring words or phrases.

These emergent codes were then applied to the data the same as the original code set.

The interview data were transcribed into a Microsoft Word file using the audio recording and speech-to-text software. The file was then proofread. The initial codes were placed into a Microsoft Excel file. A worksheet was created with a separate tab for each code. During coding, any relevant responses were copied and pasted into each file to

track codes. Open coding was used when analyzing the initial data to determine major themes and patterns. On the initial review of the data, instances of the priori codes were noted and logged. The subsequent passes used inductive coding to generate new codes from the data. I started by coding a single participant and then searching for any of their codes in the other transcripts. After completing this for each participant, I did a final pass through of each data set looking for any codes I missed. After multiple reviews of the data, I grouped the codes into categories. These categories helped to illustrate the common experiences among participants (Farber, 2006).

After the data were coded and categorized, I began a thematic analysis that needed to be conducted. A thematic analysis is a method of analyzing codes to find patterns within a data set. To help create themes, I first reviewed both the data set and the codes. Following this, I generated the themes and assigned codes to the appropriate themes. Ultimately, four themes were created. To assist in the organization of codes into themes a matrix was created. Key phrases ran along the side with participants, question number, and corresponding research questions in the adjacent columns to help organize the information (see Castleberry & Nolan, 2018). Finally, I reviewed any codes or data that did not align to any of the themes or stands independent of other codes. This process allows for the organization and interpretation of qualitative data (Scharp & Sanders, 2019).

Analysis of the Lesson Plans

The lesson plans were subjected to a document analysis. Document analysis involves a systematic review of the content and presentation of both electronic and

physical documents. Reviewing documents in such a way allowed me to gain insight and a deeper understanding of the documents and their effects. Document analysis is often used in conjunction with other sets of data (Cardno, 2018). In this instance, I used the data collected from the interviews. Reviewing lesson plans through this format allowed for a better correlation with the data gained from the interviews (Bowen, 2009).

The lesson plans and any attached materials were reviewed in terms of their assessments. Each lesson plan was viewed for any aspects of alternative assessments as well as any special considerations given to students with IEPs. Through this analysis, I looked for themes. Themes that emerged were defined, and the appropriate information was categorized. The information was then compared to the interview data to see if there were common themes between the two data sets (Bowen, 2009). All the lesson plans collected contained assessments that were traditional assessments, either multiple-choice questions or an essay format based on the New York state Regents exam.

Of the assessments received, one was an essay while the other seven were multiple-choice tests. The multiple-choice tests all contained a few stimuli-based multiple-choice questions, the format used on the Regents exams for both U.S. History and Global History. The essay test is based directly on the prompt from the United States History Regents, with the prompt copied almost word for word. The tests with multiple-choice questions were all designed to be completed in a single period, with extra time allowed for students with accommodations. The essay test was designed to be completed in half a period so students with extended time could still complete the test within a single class period. None of the assessments could be considered alternative assessments.

This correlates with the responses received that teachers have not received training on implementing alternative assessments.

Ethical Issues

Steps were taken to ensure the data were free of ethical issues or research bias. First, no pre-analysis of the research was conducted. The data were only looked at once it had all been assembled. This prevented me from unconsciously interpreting new data to fit initial results. Second, the researcher did not seek any specific set of results from the data, even if the data proved to be inconclusive. This prevented the results from being manipulated to suit a predetermined outcome. Finally, all data were transparently reported to ensure that the findings could be reviewed and questioned by peers (Baldwin et al., 2020). To help account for my personal bias, I used a journal to keep track of my thoughts on the process. I noted any assumptions I was making as I reviewed the research and rereviewed the data numerous times to ensure the data remained as untainted as possible. As I coded, I looked for common key words or phrases in the language of the participants and kept track of these to ensure I was not influencing the coding with my language.

The information collected is being kept confidential. To ensure confidentiality, no participant was asked identifying information, such as name, age, or ethnicity.

Participants were welcome to drop out of the study at any time. The information gathered was scrutinized to ensure that no third party analyzing the research can piece together the identities of any of the participants. Participants in the study are labeled Participant 1, Participant 2, and so on. Participant numbers were randomly assigned at the end of the

interview using a random number generator. The lesson plans collected were numbered the same way so that they correspond to the participant who provided them.

Evidence of Quality

The credibility of the study was ensured through the triangulation of the information from the two sources of data: lesson plans with assessments and teacher interviews. By comparing the interview responses and the document analysis, I was able to determine how effectively teachers are utilizing alternative assessments. This document analysis was compared with the answers collected during the interviews to understand the relationship between a participants' interview responses and the structure of their assessments. Using multiple sources of data also helped to ensure the accuracy of the information provided.

The second credibility strategy was member checking. Interview transcript review was used to help ensure accuracy as well. This involved sharing preliminary findings with participants to determine if the participants' answers were being accurately represented. Not only did this help to improve accuracy, member checking also allowed for the integration of the participants more fully into the research process (Netta, 2018). Netta noted that this method of creating codes and translating them into themes is supported by decades of qualitative research. None of the participants responded to the questions submitted for member checking.

To ensure consistency throughout the research, strategies were implemented to ensure dependability. The study took place at the building in which these teachers are employed; this ensured that the study was conducted in a natural context. An audit trail

was also conducted. The audit trail outlined the process of collecting the data as well as the coding process. This helped to provide transparency and establish the consistency of the research process (Williams, 2012).

Limitations

This case study is not without limitations. The information for this study is not transferable for the rest of the school district beyond the social studies department or to other school districts. The information is being viewed within a limited scope which prevents the application of any findings to another setting. Additionally, this information cannot be used to analyze social studies classes outside of the criteria for the case study. The unique circumstances of each of these classes prevents this information from being transferable. This study should not be used to scrutinize the validity of the assessments being analyzed, only whether they qualify as alternative assessments. Other states do not use Regents Examinations as their required graduation assessments. The protocol used to analyze the lesson plans and assessments to determine whether they qualified as traditional or alternative assessments was developed by me and was not tested outside of this study.

Data Analysis Results

The purpose of this study was to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support academic achievement in social studies classes for students with IEPs. Data from open-ended interviews and a document analysis of lesson plans were used to answer the following research questions:

RQ1: What are social studies teachers' perceptions regarding the benefits of using alternative assessments to support the academic achievement of students with IEPs?

RQ2: What type of support do social studies teachers perceive as needed to effectively use alternative assessments to support academic achievement for students with IEPs?

In the pursuit of obtaining this data, interviews were conducted with eight teachers who responded to the invitation. The interviews were all conducted on school property in classrooms familiar to the teachers to create a neutral environment. All the interviews took place following the school day except for one because the participant could only make time prior to the school day. No interviews were conducted during the school day. All interviews were recorded and afterwards participants were labeled one to eight to help organize the data. The data collected from the interviews and the lesson plans with attached assessments were subjected to a typological analysis. This is a methodology used in data collection for interviews which involves rereading data to ascertain the main ideas contained within the data set (Hatch, 2002).

After conducting the interviews and collecting the lesson plans, the data were compiled and reviewed. First the interview transcripts were read and reread to familiarize myself with the transcripts. Next, the lesson plans were reviewed, and each lesson plan was reviewed after rereading the corresponding respondents' interview. In reading, the data patterns began to emerge, and these patterns were turned into codes.

After the interviews were conducted, numerous codes became apparent which included alternative assessments, traditional assessments, regents, special education,

curriculum, instruction, teacher resources, teacher training, benefits of alternative assessments, and struggles with alternative assessments. These codes were created after an exhaustive view of the data. The preset codes of multiple-choice and accommodations were combined with traditional assessments and special education respectively. This was done because there was a large amount of overlap in the corresponding categories.

The codes were then translated into themes which were analyzed to see how they could be generalized to answer the research questions. They were also grouped to see how they could demonstrate themes that continued throughout the data. The themes were created by grouping codes and answers together which discussed similar topics or events. The codes related to traditional assessments were used in creating the first theme. This was because a large number of answers corresponded to assessments that fit with the format of the assessments collected. The other themes grew out of analyzing the codes and discovering patterns which run through them. The patterns were analyzed for their relevancy to the research questions and the study as a whole.

After all the data were collected, coded, themed, and reviewed four trends became apparent. The first was that the participants of the study appear to be mainly utilizing traditional assessments. The second was divided opinions on the use of alternative assessment. The third is that there is minimal to no support offered by the district or department for the development of alternative assessments. The fourth was the impact of the assessments on students with IEPs was minimal. This was achieved by analyzing both the interview data and the lesson plans submitted by the teachers who took part in the study.

Theme 1: Traditional Assessment Use Among Teachers

The first theme which became apparent after reviewing the data were that most teachers are using traditional assessments. As I reviewed the codes and categories as well as the lesson plans, I found that the primary method of assessment among the participants was traditional assessments. This theme helped provide answers to the first research question. This showed a strong bias in favor of using traditional assessments. This bias was the beginning of discovering teachers' perceptions of alternative assessments. The use of traditional assessments demonstrates either a lack of familiarity or confidence in alternative assessments.

All the lesson plans reviewed contained either multiple choice tests or essay tests. These assessments are in line with the style of question or prompt given on the Regents exam. For example, Participant 1 submitted a lesson plan with an attached essay assessment which contains questions with the same wording as the Framework Regents in United States History. Similarly, most of the multiple-choice assessments submitted contained stimulus-based questions, which are now the style on both social studies Regents Exams.

Participant 1 was perhaps the most vocal in explaining why they structured their assessments as such. When asked what factors influence assessment design they responded, "I guess the format of the Regents exam—for the exams. You know the free response and the multiple-choice exams are formatted exclusively based on the Regents exam." Participant 1 later added, "I mean I did last year; I did an alternative assessment simply because there was no Regents."

Participant 2 spoke about the struggle of creating assessments while also having to prepare students for the reading, adding, "I know, I want students to be ready for the summative assessments they have at the end of the year, but I also want them to be critical thinkers." Participant 6 added, "The fact that it's probably most important is trying to mirror what they'll be asked to do on the Regents exam." When discussing use of alternative assessments, Participant 4 said, "You know might be like a more of a homework assignment or a small class activity then a whole there not—as really summative assessments."

Every participant mentioned either the Regents exam or the New York State learning standards for their topic area in their responses for how they create their assessments. This is in line with the lesson plans and assessments which were received during the data collection process. This information was looked at in the context of the first research question regarding perceptions of the benefits of alternative assessments. While conducting the interviews, Participants 1 and 6 asked me to clarify what I meant by alternative assessments. Prior to the start of the recording of the interviews, Participant 4 let me know that they were not sure if they knew enough about the topic but were willing to participate. This lack of familiarity is displayed in their lesson plans and answers.

Theme 2: Divided Opinions on Alternative Assessments

As part of the interviews, the participants were asked for their perceptions of alternative assessments as an assessment strategy. After reviewing the information on traditional assessments, I looked next to see what the participants had to say about

alternative assessments. I quickly learned that while there was support, it was not unanimous. Teachers held differing views on alternative assessments. This information also helped to answer the first research question. This was done to provide context for the perception of educators about the benefits of alternative assessments. The data showed that while teachers are not currently incorporating alternative assessments, there are many who expressed positive positions on the topic. While most participants provided vague assertions that alternative assessments were positive, few were able to give descriptive, concrete answers on their benefits. Many teachers stumbled while answering this.

Participant 2 said of alternative assessments:

So, I've attempted to collaborate with other teachers so that there's assessments where students don't just answer multiple choice questions or write an essay, but they apply their knowledge in some innovative and creative way that I think really makes them really makes them apply the knowledge.

Participant 5 added, "For example, I— there is a good lesson that I— in my opinion is a good lesson. Where we have the students really track somebody, it's almost like a diary for the Great Depression." Participant 7 spoke positively about alternative assessments but did not elaborate saying, "I think it's great in terms of individual experiences. It's not great in terms of Regents exams but it's great in terms of the class itself and learning important skills that they'll need later in life but not so much for Regents preparation."

Despite the lack of detail, a number of participants responded that they held positive views towards alternative assessments or that they had positive experiences

using alternative assessments. Participant 2 gave perhaps the most positive response, saying,

I think if they're put together really well, I think if you take the time to put them together, I think if you collaborate with other teachers, if you do research on how to do alternative assessments, I think they're the best way to assess students.

Participant 4 added, "I think they can be very valuable in like I said giving students a chance to work with content in a different way..." Participant 5 spoke about his use of alternative assessments when he is not bound to a state exam, saying, "I do think it could be a valuable way to assess students. I'm more likely to use alternative assessments in classes that don't have the New York State learning standards attached to them."

While discussing a particular alternative assessment Participant 8 said, "The students really get a good grasp of the information when they have to take the information and create a factual story or based on a factual story. They tend to have a major grasp on the information, tend to do extremely well with the information when I have used alternative assessments like this storybook…"

Not all the teachers had positive outlooks regarding alternative assessments. Some of the teachers reflected on the difficulties of utilizing alternative assessments and at least one appeared to feel they were inferior to traditional assessments. Participant 1 was perhaps the harshest on alternative assessments saying, "Yeah, I mean I generally shy away from them 'cause I don't find them to be that good a use of time. They tend to take up more, they tend to take up more time than a traditional assessment."

Participant 1 also felt that alternative assessments created issuing in grading, adding,

The only thing about alternative assessments is I know with other teachers oftentimes do them,— the grade, what they're graded on oftentimes is not history related. It could be you know like how nice it looks or something like that as opposed to the substance of it.

Participant 3 felt that alternative assessments sounded good in concept but also spoke about their difficulties, saying, "My perception would be that they, in theory, sound, like, you know, sound like a good solution but I think in practice it might be difficult to implement."

Participant 7 spoke previously about the concern of using alternative assessments in a class which culminated in Regents exam. Participant 8 also reflected a similar concern when they said, "So, I do like to use alternative assessments, unfortunately I don't get to use them as often as I would like to because of the New York State Regents exam that is at the end of the year."

The data revealed that participants were split in their views on alternative assessments with some finding them valuable and actively using them while others only saw obstacles or thought they may distract from Regents preparation. Additionally, when discussing alternative assessments in the context of students with IEPs, many of the teachers focused more on the obstacles of how to modify the assessment for the students rather than the specific benefit to the students. The participants who gave positive answers spoke about how the format allows more access for students.

Participant 4 articulated the positive effect of alternative assessments for students with IEPs by saying,

I think usually students with IEPs, as long as everything is presented in, a, you know, a clear way it can often be a good experience for those students who maybe don't always perform well on traditional assessments like multiple choice questions and things. When students have a chance to maybe express things in their own way or be a little more creative, those students I think you have more of a chance to shine at times when it's not a stressful test situation or traditional testing situation.

Theme 3: Minimal Support or Training on Assessments

Of all the questions asked during the interview, Question 8 (Please describe any training you have received on implementing alternative assessments) received the most similar answer from all of the respondents. This was apparent even when interviewing. While asking this question many participants paused or hesitated. This theme became obvious when viewing how many participants had the same answer to this one question. This theme helped to answer the second research question and provided some additional context for the first. Almost all the teachers reported that they had not received any training on alternative assessments. Those few who did spoke about training either spoke about the midterm or of previous training they had received.

Answering Question 8, Participant 1 said, "Okay, that's easy I think the answer is zero, I don't think I, repeat the question one more time just to make sure I'm not."

Participant 7 was much more succinct simply stating, "None."

Other participants spoke about the limited amount or the amount of time which passed. Participant 3 stated, "I would say I have not really received any training, maybe informal." Participant 4 added, "I think there was a Superintendent Conference Day where we had a choice of different topics and I signed up for one that had different resources and ideas for alternative assessments but that was probably a long time ago." While discussing a training they had received Participant 6 said it was, "...quite a long time ago. Maybe 2010." Participant 8 echoed their colleagues by saying, "Alternative assessments there— hasn't been too much training on alternative assessments."

Despite this lack of training there does seem to be an interest in further pursuing alternative assessments as an assessment strategy. As noted above, a number of participants had positive associations with alternative assessments and some even vocalized their desire for further training on the topic.

Participant 3 spoke about the negatives of a lack of training by saying, "So, I will say like, I'm definitely at a loss for... you know fully, I don't fully understand what other alternative assessments there are." Participant 4 spoke about the benefits of collaborating on alternative assessments when they said, "So, I think that if I think it would be more common, which I think would be a good thing, if we just had more of a chance to collaborate." Participant 5 put it simply, "I wish there was more proper training available on alternative assessments."

The lack of training for staff on the proper use, implementation, and benefits of alternative assessments could potentially account for the lack of teacher buy-in (Carriere et al., 2020). For staff to be properly motivated they have to be properly informed. The

lack of support from the district and department have made it difficult for these teachers to feel comfortable using alternative assessments, especially in the face of high stakes standardized testing such as the Regents exam.

Theme 4: Impact on Students With IEPs

Students with IEPs was one of the least discussed topics by respondents who were interviewed. As these students are the focal point of the study, it was important to understand what the participants had to say and how this would impact the students. The lack of discussion could be because general education teachers were interviewed and not special education teachers. The teachers interviewed all have students with IEPs in their class and were comfortable talking about them and used appropriate terminology. Almost all the teachers interviewed collaborated with a special education teacher, either directly in the classroom with a co-teacher or by consulting with the primary or resource room teacher. At the local site all students with an IEP are assigned to a special education teacher to be their caseload manager. This person is referred to in district as a primary and is responsible for reviewing the student's grades, writing their IEPs for a students' annual review meeting, and ensuring that students are receiving their appropriate testing accommodations among other responsibilities.

While discussing the assistance they have received from a special education teacher, Participant 2 said,

Obviously in the past when I've taught inclusion classes, I have the inclusion teacher there. That's a help in implementing the modifications on tests and assignments that are needed. If there's no inclusion teacher in the classroom it's

my responsibility to take a look at the IEP and implement the IEP's modifications as best as possible. Often, I will consult the primary teachers of those students or other special education teachers in the building in order to modify assignments, tests, homework, whatever for those students.

Participant 4 spoke of input they received saying, "I will show them the test and to see if they have any feedback of it if the formatting is—problematic for whatever reason..." Participant 5 spoke of their working with their cooperating teacher saying, "Every time I've design an assessment, I, like I said, I've always gone to that special ed teacher to make sure it fits the needs of our students..."

They further elaborated that they relied on their co-teacher saying, "I don't have the same type of training that they would normally have..." Participant 7 added, "Not much on the formal assessments, but informally, you know, like, on the day-to-day stuff I would." Participant 3 was the only one who did not have input from a special education teacher saying, "Generally, I have not."

Of the specific feedback they received from special education teachers, most of it seemed to simply be formatting the questions or wording of the questions or a focus on students receiving their accommodations. No teacher indicated that their assessment type was changed to meet the needs of students with IEPs and none of the lesson plans provide special education information other than references to a co-teacher providing accommodations.

Data Analysis Findings

After analyzing all the data, there were no glaring inconsistencies found. Many of the teachers discussed the heavy influence the Regents exam has on their classroom assessments; this was reflected in the lesson plans and assessments submitted. The responses that participants gave about a lack of training in alternative assessments correlated with a lack of familiarity with alternative assessments. Throughout the coding process, numerous teachers discussed a broad approach to assessment design with few comments about designing them to reflect their student population or individual student performance. None of the assessments provided required students to apply their content knowledge to problem solving tasks and were directly modeled after the Regents exam. None of the participants responded to the request for more information when contacted.

The perception of teachers interviewed towards alternative assessments was mostly positive with some hesitation as to the impact they would have on the pacing of the class and scores achieved by students on the Regents exam. While the participants discussed benefits of alternative assessments, few directly addressed their impact on students with IEPs. Even when directly asked about students with IEPs, participants struggled to give detailed responses or articulate specific benefits for these students. None of the participants spoke of receiving assessment support specifically related to students with IEPs.

Teachers who held positive views of alternative assessments felt strongly that more training would be needed for them to properly incorporate them into the classroom.

Teachers at the local site are required to attend four days of professional development a

year offered by the district. The district provides some flexibility to teachers and department directors in planning their professional development time. The district typically requests teachers volunteer to run workshops, when possible, to allow for internal professional development. Many teachers felt that proper professional development would allow them to assess their students more effectively. Considering these findings, and the current body of research, it is recommended that a professional development workshop take place to train teachers on the creation and implementation of alternative assessment to encourage their use (Swaran Singh et al., 2022).

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

After collecting and analyzing the data, I determined the best genre of project to address the problem would be professional development. The research indicated that numerous teachers have a lack of knowledge when it comes to alternative assessments. Numerous teachers were unaware of what alternative assessments were and lacked even foundational knowledge of their use and application. The results from the data demonstrated they are generally interested in receiving professional development on the topic. The professional development I designed would be spread over the course of 3 days to maximize participant engagement and ensure a thorough understanding of alternative assessments. I designed the workshop to have teachers engage with the presenter, so they are not passive participants. I developed the professional development to address the needs of both new and veteran teachers. The goal of this training is to familiarize teachers with alternative assessments and their benefits. In addition, the professional development provides teachers with a structured environment in which they can collaborate on the creation of alternative assessments and create lesson plans they can incorporate into their classroom. In this way, the professional development provides the participants with a practical resource of their own creation. The information gathered from this research was used in the creation of this professional development plan.

Rationale

There is good reason to be optimistic about the use of professional development to foster the use of alternative assessments. Shahbari and Abu-Alhija (2018) found that

math teachers who received professional development on alternative assessments reported more positive views of alternative assessments after completing the course. Furthermore, teachers in the course created assessments with a more conceptual focus rather than a procedural focus (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). This higher-level learning through assessment is exactly what this professional development seeks to replicate. Sahin-Taskin (2018) found that preservice teachers who received professional development felt more assured of themselves and were better able to implement alternative assessments in their classrooms.

As previously stated, in conducting the interviews, multiple teachers expressed interest in receiving professional development on the topic of alternative assessments. However, not all teachers held positive views of alternative assessments and not all of them asked for training. However, providing training to those teachers with negative conceptions of alternative assessments may help to change their view (Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). For teachers who are open to the idea of professional development, the training provides context to better understand the benefits and limitations of alternative assessments and the appropriate application for their classrooms. Some of the teachers who mentioned using alternative assessments were given a chance to share what they already use and collaborate with colleagues on the creation of new materials. As many teachers feel the department or district has not supported them with professional development on assessments in the past, this training helps fill this gap in understanding.

Review of the Literature

To help create the professional development plan, I conducted a review of the literature. The findings were used as the basis for the professional development plan. The literature review includes research on the use of professional development in teacher training and concepts gathered from the research including alternative assessment training, alternative assessment design, and supports for assessment design. The literature was gathered using databases provided by Walden University including ERIC, Education Source, and SAGE Journals, as well as searches conducted using Google Scholar. The following terms were searched on these platforms with publication restricted to the last 5 years: professional development, teacher motivation assessment, alternative assessment training, incorporating alternative assessments, alternative assessment design, alternative assessment strategies, and assessment support.

The goal of this training was to provide teachers with information on the benefits of alternative assessment and how to appropriately use them in their classrooms. The hope is that teachers will incorporate more alternative assessments into their teaching and provide students, especially students with IEPs, with an array of techniques to assess knowledge.

Alternative Assessment Education

As previously discussed, multiple studies have been conducted on the benefits of training teachers in the use of alternative assessments (Sahin-Taskin, 2018; Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Teachers who receive training are more likely to have positive views of alternative assessments and are more likely to incorporate them into their classrooms.

Giraldo (2019) found that teachers create their assessments based largely on their own experiences teaching and that effective professional development on assessments should include both practical applications and theoretical foundations. With this professional development, I sought to both ensure that teachers understand how to implement alternative assessments and why they should do so as well. One participant expressed that alternative assessments are time consuming, and the hope is that through this training, such misbeliefs can be dispelled.

Training teachers in the use of alternative assessments is not as simple as giving them an example to copy. Alternative assessments require a change not just in structure, but also in implementation. For longer or more interactive alternative assessments, students should be given formative feedback. This not only increases students' confidence with the assessment but allows for the student to respond to their weaknesses and correct them throughout the assessment process (Duque-Aguilar, 2021). Training alone does not result in teachers adopting alternative assessments. The training needed to be in-depth and practical. Swaran Singh et al. (2022) found that even after receiving professional development on the benefits of alternative assessments, teachers desired further training on how to implement them. Schools have already begun to incorporate student achievement on alternative assessments into their evaluations of students. One study in China calls for alternative assessment to be included in their measurement of students' academic progress (Zhuang et al., 2019).

Researchers have found that students often have positive views toward alternative assessments. These views provide further insight into the most appropriate training for

alternative assessments (Alokozaya, 2022). Viewing a task from a student's perspective can give valuable academic insight and improve teaching methodology (Moscardini & Moscardini 2020). The positive view of students toward alternative assessments correlates with student motivation toward the assessments. Students who are more motivated to complete an assessment are more engaged in the assessment. Additionally, students have associated alternative assessments with critical thinking skills (Alokozaya, 2022).

Alternative Assessment Design

When creating alternative assessments, it is important to consider the student population first. Students from different demographics will have different needs and different abilities or methods of displaying their knowledge. For this reason, the professional development workshop will contain a discussion on the local population and the effect alternative assessment could have on them. This study was conducted with a special focus on students with IEPs as they belong to a population that often benefits most from alternative assessments. Majoko (2018) conducted a survey of students with IEPs in Zimbabwe and found that alternative assessments helped to give these students greater access to the curriculum. In another study, researchers found that alternative assessments in physical education classes allow teachers to assess students whose disabilities prevent them from participating in traditional skill tests or written tests (Ha et al., 2022). Assessment design can help with more than just testing student knowledge. Jimenez and Warren (2023) found that alternative assessments can help students in developing self-determination skills. These demonstrate that when it comes to assessment

design, the student population is a significant factor of consideration, and any professional development must consider this factor.

The COVID-19 pandemic forced many educators to make sudden changes to their teaching approach. One study of changes forced by the pandemic found that alternative assessments could be a way to assess students while maintaining academic integrity. This same study found that one of the biggest challenges to this type of change was a lack of teacher buy-in, which further necessitates professional development (Lau et al., 2020). However, the pandemic also presents teachers with problems that come with a lack of oversight of students. Students need to be engaged with the assessment to find value with it. This shows the value of pairing alternative assessments with engaging instructors and the limitations of assessments without student engagement (Kuzu et al., 2022). When designing alternative assessments, it is important to ensure the assessment measures the content. Teachers can use students to help measure content engagement by having them participate in the evaluation of alternative assessments. Dolu et al. (2022) found that having students rate the scientific accuracy of an alternative assessment correlated with most of the students correctly completing the assignment.

Alternative assessments do not need to be viewed by teachers and students as a unique part of the classroom experience. Many teachers have incorporated alternative assessment activities into the structure of their class. This allows students multiple opportunities to express their knowledge and creativity in a way that is natural to the classroom structure (Singh et al., 2022). Alternative assessments can also be broken down into their base components to help teach specific skills while building toward larger

assessments. Kiley et al. (2022) used the REACH program developed by the University of Montana as an alternative assessment for science students. The authors found that by having students conduct small-scale research and report on their findings, they helped to develop the skills that would be beneficial when they conducted research of a larger scale. During the workshop, teachers created a usable product they can incorporate into their classrooms.

Support for Assessment Design

For teachers to incorporate alternative assessments into their classroom, they must receive support for not just the design but the implementation as well. To do this, teachers need to believe in the efficacy of alternative assessments. Research has shown that teachers with a constructivist outlook of teaching are more likely to view grading students on aspects beyond the curriculum as important. This would include grading students on attributes such as confidence and effort (Bonner & Chen, 2021). For teachers who do not take a constructivist viewpoint, the training needed to stress that grading is ultimately left up to the individual teacher and does not need to be incorporated into their grading. Professional development is an excellent tool to help support teachers in assessment design. The training focused on more than just simply what an alternative assessment is by also addressing more abstract concepts such as digital tools and time management (Okoro et al., 2021). Even when districts support or encourage the use of alternative assessments, training and support is needed to appropriately develop them. Researchers in Turkey found that teachers feel demotivated to implement alternative assessments because of the pressure of standardized testing (Basok, 2020). For

professional development to be effective, it must demonstrate to teachers that these assessments can improve understanding.

The goal of this training was to support teachers, so they feel confident incorporating alternative assessments into their classrooms. This training aimed to be thorough and engaging so that teachers find the most value in it. Additionally, this training, or a similar training, should be offered regularly so that teachers can refresh their knowledge or receive further development (Zhang, 2019). To help support teachers in their training and assessment implementation, a survey was sent via e-mail before the training began. This gives the instructor a chance to assess a teacher's knowledge before the training begins and give the teachers an opportunity to express concerns prior to the training (Hirsch et al., 2020).

Professional Development and Alternative Assessments

Professional development remains one of the primary ways for teachers to improve their abilities and stay up to date on emerging practices in the field (Hirsch et al., 2020). This professional development project was designed to be delivered as a 3-day summer session. Summer professional development allows for 3 days of training without interruption of the school day. The summer is often viewed as an underutilized opportunity to deliver professional development (Başaran & Dinçman, 2022).

Any training on alternative assessments must encourage teachers to implement alternative assessments into their classroom. A professional development workshop that addresses not only the benefits, but also practical use of alternative assessments may change the attitudes of teachers so they view alternative assessments more favorably

(Shahbari & Abu-Alhija, 2018). Shifting teachers' perspectives is an essential part of professional development training. The training must provide teachers with a practical example of alternative assessments and demonstrate the construction of alternative assessments or teachers will struggle with their implementation (Giraldo, 2019).

Project Description

The project that was developed as a result of the data collected will become a 3-day professional development plan which educates teachers on the benefits of alternative assessments and will provide them with time to collaborate on the development of alternative assessments. The plan will focus on both ensuring the teachers buy-in of alternative assessments as well as giving them a practical artifact which they will be able use in their classroom at the culmination of the professional development sessions.

Additionally, the examples of alternative assessments will be chosen based on participant responses and current research in the field.

Throughout the study, participants remarked that they had received little to no training from their department or district on assessment design. To help mitigate this deficiency, the professional development will begin with an overview of assessments and what an alternative assessment is. When lesson plans and assessments were reviewed as part of the data, they all demonstrated a reliance on traditional assessments as well as a structure based on the New York State Regents examination. For this reason, the professional development will also briefly discuss the purpose of standardized testing and the role that plays in educational policy. This training will be eligible for all members of the social studies department, whether their class culminates in a Regents exam or not.

This is done in part because schedules change every year, allowing teachers who may teach Regents classes in the future a chance to receive the training beforehand.

Additionally, many of these teachers have students with IEPs in their classroom, necessitating the focus on the benefits of alternative assessments for students with IEPs. It is important that teachers who received this training understand the impact alternative assessments can have for students, especially the those in the most vulnerable student populations.

Resources

To ensure that all participants will be able to attend the professional development sessions without interfering with their classroom responsibilities, the professional development will be offered during the summer months as part of the teachers' professional responsibilities. The department head will determine the date and location for the workshop to take place. The presenter for the professional development will need to access a classroom with a computer, projection screen (SmartBoard), and enough seating for 12-15 individuals. All necessary district forms for the use of space will be completed. The professional development will not come at a cost to the district. The teachers attending the workshop will be asked to bring either a laptop or Chromebook with them. The classroom computer will have internet access and Wi-Fi that will be made available for all attendees. Copies of the presentation and all materials will be left in a folder with a writing utensil on the opening day of the sessions.

Roles and Responsibilities

The two primary roles will be the presenter and the attendees, or teachers. The primary responsibility of facilitating the training and instruction will fall to the presenter. The presenter will be required to be familiar with all of the training materials as well as the underlying research which supports the materials. It will be important for the presenter to speak clearly and effectively when delivering the training. The presenter will be thorough in their delivery and will be prepared for any questions that arise during the training. If a question is posed that the presenter is not prepared for, they will inform the attendees that an answer will be researched and delivered to them the next day. The participants will be made aware that the materials for this presentation were made based upon research that was conducted at the local site. As a result, the presentation had been created with this exact teacher population in mind.

The primary role of the attendees will be to engage with the material and maintain their focus throughout all of the sessions. Attendees will be responsible not only to themselves, but to the other participants in the room as well. Attendees will be expected to take notes, participate in both small and large group discussions, and participate in the creation of an alternative assessment. Development of the alternative assessment will take place on the last day of training and will require research and engagement from the teachers who attend. These assessments will be shared with the department as a whole upon the completion of the workshop.

Potential Barriers

The primary potential barrier will be attendance. As the professional development will be offered in the summer, some teachers will choose to use this time to relax.

However, as professional development hours are required to maintain a teaching certification in New York State and out of pocket professional development can be expensive, teachers are incentivized to attend a free workshop through their district. An agreement may also be reached with the department head to allow the summer professional development to take the place of other departmental duties such as meetings or curriculum writing. This will be at the discretion of the department head.

Another potential barrier will be the engagement of the attendees. Attendees who do not engage with the professional development or do not actively participate in the creation of the alternative assessment could potentially limit the effectiveness of the professional development. To encourage all attendees to engage to their fullest extent, the department head will be invited to attend the workshop. Additionally, the program will be voluntary, which should draw attendees who are serious about engaging in the professional development.

Proposal for Implementation and Timetable

The project will be presented to the social studies department head with the findings of the research and potential implications. This presentation will outline for the department head the current lack of alternative assessment in social studies classrooms and also the steps which can be taken to rectify the situation and the benefits of doing so.

Once permission to offer the project is obtained, the goal is to offer this professional development during the summer of 2023.

To implement this professional development, a meeting will be held with the department head, lead teacher, and appropriate building and district level administrators. At this meeting, the presenter will review all the findings of the research as well as all of the required materials for the project and expectations for both them and the attendees. Additionally, the presenter will consider the feedback received from the various stakeholders in making a modification to the project. At the conclusion of the meeting, a date and location will be determined for the proposed project.

Project Evaluation Plan

There will be three primary methods by which the project will be evaluated. The first is that the project is assessed as it is delivered through formative assessment activities. Second, the alternative assessments developed at the end of the project are evaluated for form and effectiveness. Finally, a survey will be sent to attendees upon the completion of the professional development. (See Appendix D)

Throughout the delivery of the professional development, it is vital that the presenter ensures that participants are focused and engaged. It is also vital to ensure that attendees understand the material as it is delivered to them. To ensure that these goals are reached, the presenter will occasionally solicit feedback or answers from the attendees as the professional development is delivered. Attendees will provide feedback informally through discussion and formally through targeted responses. After reviewing the benefits of alternative assessments, participants will be broken into small groups and asked to

discuss which of the benefits they found most compelling and why. Groups will then share their responses and discuss with other groups how they arrived at their answers.

Additionally, when types of alternative assessments are reviewed, attendees will be asked if they have experience with any of them and will be asked to share how they have utilized them in the past.

The professional development workshop will culminate in the creation of an alternative assessment by each group. Teachers will be asked to present their alternative assessment to the rest of the attendees along with any required materials to conduct the assessment and a method of evaluation. The presenter will help the teachers as they develop these assessments to ensure that they are on the right course as the assessments are developed. After the session, the presenter will evaluate the materials created to ensure that they are alternative assessments. All assessments that fit the criteria will be approved. The presenter expects that each group will be able to develop an alternative assessment.

After the professional development has been delivered, attendees will complete a brief questionnaire asking them to evaluate the effectiveness of the professional development they have received. This questionnaire will be used by the presenter to collect feedback and make any necessary changes to the professional development. The questionnaire consists of approximately six questions and concludes with an area for attendees to leave comments or concerns.

Project Implications

From the beginning of this research, the hope was that the information gathered would be used to make a positive impact on the local site. The information gathered from this research, when utilized with the proposed professional development, will create an excellent opportunity to bring about improvement. The professional development project was designed to not only change teachers' perspectives of alternative assessments, but also train them in the creation and implementation.

Alternative assessments have numerous benefits, including helping vulnerable students, increasing community engagement, and improving skills not measured using traditional assessments. By incorporating more alternative assessments into classrooms, teachers improve their practice and accommodate students in unique and engaging ways. Using alternative assessments allows teachers to exercise a greater level of creativity. While alternative assessments can require a large amount of effort, their use can also have a tremendous impact.

In the local setting, students with IEPs are underperforming their peers. This underperformance has implications for teachers and students beyond grades, including funding, performance evaluations, and confidence. By improving the assessments at the local site, students can build stronger skills and master the content in a way that was previously unavailable to them. With new laws and regulations targeting schools, and relationships between districts and community stakeholders struggling, improvements such as this not only help the students, but also work to build trust and confidence in the school system.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

Project Strengths and Limitations

This project has a number of strengths. First, the project brings together an entire department for training. Second, the project addresses an area of training that teachers are interested in. Finally, the project will create a number of actual assessments that can be used by teachers who attend the training. While the project has many strengths, it also has limitations. The primary two limitations to this project are implementation and commitment.

While departments often gather for meetings or conference days, they rarely meet for extended professional development. This training would bring members of the department together for 3 consecutive days to learn about alternative assessments. This extended time together would allow them to collaborate in a way rarely available to teachers. This level of collaboration would mean that colleagues will have the opportunity to discuss and share lessons and materials that could be beneficial to each other. In addition, members who may not be familiar with each other could work together and build strong relationships. The increased unity of the department would hopefully foster a greater level of collaboration throughout the school year.

The second major strength of the professional development workshop is that this is a topic teachers have expressed interest in. During the interviews, numerous teachers verbalized a desire to take professional development courses related to alternative assessments. Almost all the participants said they had little to no professional

development on assessment at all. This professional development would capture the interest of the educators while training them in an area in need of further development.

The final major strength is perhaps the most important. At the end of the workshop, teachers would have a number of artifacts they could incorporate into their classrooms. Teachers create an alternative assessment that could be shared with the department, thereby giving teachers a chance to incorporate a number of different alternative assessments. By test running these assessments, teachers could get a better understanding of how to use alternative assessments and an understanding of what type of alternative assessments work with their teaching style. The students in these classes would also be exposed to alternative assessments and could give teachers firsthand feedback on what they felt worked and what did not. This will also benefit teachers who are unable to attend the workshop and do not receive the training.

The primary goal of this workshop is to increase the number of alternative assessments used by teachers who attend the training. Teachers who attend will leave the workshop with a better understanding of the importance of alternative assessments and how assessments in general affect the most vulnerable student populations. The workshop aims to create a lasting change in not just district practices, but the overall paradigm of the department. By putting such a strong emphasis on assessments, the hope is that teachers will put more consideration into the creation and implementation of assessments in their classrooms.

The primary limitation of this project is implementation of alternative assessments. There is no requirement that the teachers who attend the workshop use any

of the artifacts created. Teachers could leave the training and never turn their attention to alternative assessments again. Even the teachers who use these assessments run the risk of incorporating them inappropriately or modifying them in ways that make them less valuable. To help mitigate these situations, presenters make their contact information available to all participants so they can contact them with any further questions.

The other limitation would be the commitment of the teachers. Because the professional development is voluntary, teachers need to agree to attend. This could lead to unmotivated teachers not attending the workshop. Additionally, teachers who want to attend the workshop have to commit to 3 full days of professional development. For these 3 days, they have to be focused, attentive, and engaged. Teachers at the workshop will be asked to create an alternative assessment for distribution to the department. These teachers will be informally responsible for assisting other teachers with the implementation of alternative assessments. The teachers who agree to attend the workshop will be responsible for a strong commitment to the ideals of the workshop.

The actual professional development also has its own limitations. The presenter needs to be mindful of the time they spend on each topic to ensure they do not run out of time or fall short. This balancing act can be difficult but is essential to ensure that the training is completed appropriately. The training relies on the use of technology, which can fail at unexpected moments. The presenter needs to ensure they check everything is working well in advance of each day's session and, if not, contact the appropriate individuals to rectify the situation. The presenter also needs to acquire district approval for all resources at least 1 week prior to the start of the workshop.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

Professional development workshops are the most common type of teacher training offered by the local site. Teachers attend professional development workshops on conference days, during department meetings, and as part of national or local organizations. However, it is not the only way to deliver the information. The information and implementation of alternative assessments could also be achieved by using a consultant.

The major benefit of using a consultant would be the personalized and hands-on approach. A consultant could hold a brief workshop that introduces the topic to the teachers and then meet with them individually to discuss their specific needs. A consultant could also push into classrooms to observe the implementation of alternative assessments and help teachers use them to their fullest potential. The biggest obstacle with a consultant would be the cost to the district. Educational consultants who work with teachers to this degree are likely to be prohibitively expensive. Additionally, the district would have to locate a qualified consultant as the presenter for the workshop is employed full-time as an educator. Finally, teachers may feel pressure working with a consultant and allowing the consultant access to their classroom to monitor their teaching. This could discourage teachers who would otherwise attend the professional development.

Scholarship, Project Development and Evaluation, and Leadership and Change

To say that putting together this project study was an adventure would be an understatement. This entire process coincided with a number of fairly significant moments in my life. Despite numerous setbacks, both personal and academic, this

adventure was incredible. I have learned more than I thought I would and feel that my ability as a teacher has improved significantly. My research gave me valuable insights into the material I learned and the research process as well.

When this adventure began, I knew I wanted to look at assessments. Throughout my education, I have found that a heavy emphasis is placed on instruction and curriculum but rarely is there a focus on assessments. As I began my research into assessments, I found an entire world of assessments I did not know existed. While I was familiar with certain types of alternative assessments, such as portfolios and project-based learning, I was unaware of the sheer amount of variety that existed. I was also unaware of the significant benefits these assessments have for students with IEPs. As I learned more about the benefits of alternative assessments, I realized I was not the only person who lacked this information. Numerous educators I spoke with expressed a lack of understanding that was similar to my own. With this in mind, I decided to focus my project study on alternative assessments.

Prior to this project, I would have considered myself a decent researcher.

However, I was basing this perception solely on the idea that I could use search engines and databases to find the information I was looking for. I had never considered that I would contribute to the body of research in those databases. Having now conducted my own research and having analyzed the results, I realize how little I understood before. I have found myself reading everything, not just research, with a more critical eye. This has also increased my interests in ways I did not expect. Previously, when I read research, I usually found the methodology sections to be the least engaging parts of the article. I

now find myself captivated with the methodology sections and find myself comparing what I have learned to what I am reading.

This process has also led me to evaluate the role I play as a teacher in my district. Prior to the project study, I viewed myself in the traditional hierarchy of teachers. I often sought advice from older, more experienced teachers while mentoring newer teachers myself. However, throughout this process, I have come to realize there are techniques and information everyone possesses, regardless of age or experience, that are valuable to share. This process also reinforced that no matter how much experience a teacher has, there is always more to learn.

Reflection on the Importance of the Work

The value that alternative assessments bring to a classroom can be as revolutionary as differentiated instruction. Traditional assessments are effective for most students but are often a struggle for students with IEPs. By increasing the utilization of alternative assessments teachers can give their students greater access to the material while also increasing their own satisfaction with the learning process. All too often, teachers see the barriers and not the benefits. When conducting this research, I found that one teacher in particular held fairly negative views about alternative assessments, with one of their strongest criticisms being the amount of time they take. While it is true that alternative assessments can be time consuming, though not all of them are, their value can outweigh the cost. I truly hope this research brings about a paradigm shift for some and begins to make positive changes, even if just at the local site.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

The potential impact of this project is enormous. While the training and workshop will focus on a single department, the interest will hopefully spread to other departments. The hope is that by providing research based professional development on alternative assessments, other teachers will begin to inquire about their use. Increasing this use across the board could benefit all students and create an educational environment that is both enjoyable and responsive to students needs and interests. If teachers start using service-learning projects, this research could potentially benefit the local community by having students engage with local stakeholders and work to improve the community. Improving relations with the community could also have a positive impact on the district. Better relations could mean more community involvement with district initiatives and a better chance of passing the yearly budget.

Further research needs to be done on the best use of alternative assessments and the role they play in preparing students for college and career readiness skills. While the research thoroughly addresses the benefits of alternative assessments, the application of them to the local site should be further studied. This would allow for the district to better target areas in need of improvement or to support and reinforce what is already working. Additionally, surveys or interviews like the one conducted should be repeated periodically to best tailor district professional development to the needs and wants of the teachers. This will allow the district to maximize its professional development potential and respond to changing demographics in the district. Additionally, the district could benefit from spending time studying the impact of standardized testing on teaching

practices. A large number of teachers spoke about the pressures of the New York State Regents Exam and the small amount of departmental professional development that was offered on assessments revolved around structuring tests in the format of the Regents.

Conclusion

Despite significant research on the topic, alternative assessments are often treated as a novelty. They are viewed as something that can be done in electives or fun assignments to interest students, but rarely are they viewed as being academically rigorous. The value alternative assessments bring to a classroom resonate beyond that one moment. They allow nontraditional learners to access the curriculum in unique and engaging ways. They can be used to improve skills that traditional assessments do not focus on. Alternative assessments impact students in ways that they can carry forward with them into their futures and even can impact communities in districts where they are incorporated. By changing teacher perceptions of alternative assessments, it is possible increase their use of alternative assessments and improve the education of all students.

References

- Ahmed, F., Ali, S., & Shah, R. A. (2019). Exploring variation in summative assessment:

 Language teachers' knowledge of students' formative assessment and its effect on their summative assessment. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 41(2), 109–119.

 https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1229441
- Alharahsheh, H. H., & Pius, A. (2020). A review of key paradigms: Positivism vs. interpretivism. *Global Academic Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 2(3), 39–43.

 https://www.researchgate.net/publication/338244145_A_Review_of_key_paradig
- Al-Mahrooqi, R., & Denman, C. (2018). Alternative assessment. *The TESOL Encyclopedia of English Language Teaching*, 10, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118784235.eelt0325

ms_positivism_VS_interpretivism

- Alokozaya, W. J. (2022). Students' perception of alternative assessment: A qualitative meta-analysis. *International Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, *14*(2), 1419–1441. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1340921
- Andersen, L., Nash, B. L., & Bechard, S. (2018). Articulating the validity evidence for a science alternate assessment. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 55(6), 826–848. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21441
- Andrade, H. L. (2019). A critical review of research on student self-assessment. *Frontiers in Education*, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2019.00087
- Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data

- analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 18(4), 383–400. https://doi.org/10.1108/qrj-d-18-00035
- Baldwin, J. R., Pingault, J. B., Schoeler, T., Sallis, H. M., & Munafò, M. R. (2022).

 Protecting against researcher bias in secondary data analysis: Challenges and potential solutions. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, *37*(1), 1–10.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-021-00839-0
- Başaran, S. T., & Dinçman, B. (2022). Professional development of Turkish preschool teachers during summer holidays. *International Online Journal of Education & Teaching*, 9(1), 361–396. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1327397
- Basir, T. (2003). Manual or electronic? The role of coding in qualitative data analysis. *Educational Research*, 45(2), 143–154.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/0013188032000133548
- Basok, E. (2020). The gap between language teaching policies and classroom practices in the Turkish EFL context: The effects on teacher motivation. *Online Submission*, 44(2), 1–14. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1320832
- Bechard, S., Clark, A., Swinburne Romine, R., Karvonen, M., Kingston, N., & Erickson, K. (2019). Use of evidence-centered design to develop learning maps-based assessments. *International Journal of Testing*, 19(2), 188–205. https://doi.org/10.35542/osf.io/wqn69
- Becker, I., Rigaud, V. M., & Epstein, A. (2023). Getting to know young children:

 Alternative assessments in early childhood education. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *51*(5), 911–923. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-022-01353-y

- Betzig, C. K. S. (2021). Implementing project-based learning in high school algebra under the shadow of standardized testing. *Journal of Teacher Action Research*, 8(1), 56–70.
 - http://www.practicalteacherresearch.com/uploads/5/6/2/4/56249715/implementin

 g_project_based_learning_in_high_school_algebra_under_the_shadow_of_standa

 rdized_testing.pdf
- Bin Mubayrik, H. F. (2020). New trends in formative-summative evaluations for adult education. *SAGE Open*, 10(3), 215824402094100. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244020941006
- Bonner, S. M., & Chen, P. P. (2021). Development and validation of the survey of unorthodox grading beliefs for teachers and teacher candidates. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment*, 39(6), 746–760.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/07342829211015462
- Boutin, P. J. (2021). Elementary teacher perspectives on inclusive large-scale assessments for culturally and linguistically diverse student populations (Doctoral dissertation, Concordia University Chicago). ProQuest, 28547448.

 https://www.proquest.com/openview/d845f7772f60deaa5d0ca30433176368/1
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal (RMIT Training Pty Ltd Trading as RMIT Publishing)*, 9(2), 27–40. https://doi.org/10.3316/qrj0902027
- Brabec, J. A., Pan, S. C., Bjork, E. L., & Bjork, R. A. (2021). True-False testing on trial:

 Guilty as charged or falsely accused? *Educational Psychology Review*, 33, 667–

- 692. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09546-w
- Cardno, C. (2018) Policy document analysis: A practical educational leadership tool and a qualitative research method. *Educational Administration: Theory & Practice*. 24(4), 623–640. https://doi.org/10.14527/kuey.2018.016
- Carriere, K., Krezmien, M., & Gonzales, A. (2020). Using a systematic evaluation to establish need and buy-in prior to adoption of a SWPBIS model. *Exceptionality*, 28(3), 222–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/09362835.2020.1849615
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching & Learning*, 10(6), 807–815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Chivu, R. G., Orzan, M., Turlacu, L. M., & Radu, A. V. (2018). Alternative evaluation methods in university education. *ELearning & Software for Education*, *4*, 129–136. https://doi.org/10.12753/2066-026x-18-233
- Christensen, A. L., & Woodland, A. (2018). An investigation of the relationships among volunteer income tax assistance (VITA) participation and ethical judgment and decision making. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *147*, 529-543.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2957-x
- Clark, A. K., & Karvonen, M. (2021). Instructionally embedded assessment: Theory of action for an innovative system. in frontiers in education (Vol. 6, p. 724938).

 Frontiers. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2021.724938
- Couch II, M., Frost, M., Santiago, J., & Hilton, A. (2021). Rethinking standardized testing from an access, equity and achievement perspective: Has anything

- changed for African American students?. Journal of Research Initiatives, 5(3), 6.
- Curro, K., Shooman, L., & Foo, S. (2022). The use of interprofessional education (IPE) to address collaboration for individualized education plans (IEPs): A retrospective study of occupational therapy, speech-language pathology, and special education students' perceptions. *Teaching and Learning in Communication Sciences* & *Disorders*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.30707/tlcsd6.2.1660595992.549661
- Deignan, T., & Brown, S. (2016). Educator perspectives on the use of alternative assessment methods within taught Masters programmes: an exploratory study using activity theory and Q methodology. *Educational Review*, 68(4), 379-402. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2015.1090399
- Dini, V., Sevian, H., Caushi, K., & Orduña Picón, R. (2020). Characterizing the formative assessment enactment of experienced science teachers. *Science Education*, 104(2), 290-325. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21559
- Dolu, G., Ürek, H., & Sarioglan, A. B. (2022). Scientific story writing technique in the alternative assessment of the subject of liquids: The sample of science and biology teaching students. *Journal of Science Learning*, *5*(1), 154–164. https://doi.org/10.17509/jsl.v5i1.33039
- Douglas, G., McLinden, M., Robertson, C., Travers, J., & Smith, E. (2016). Including pupils with special educational needs and disability in national assessment:

 Comparison of three country case studies through an inclusive assessment framework. *International Journal of Disability, Development & Education*, 63(1), 98–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912x.2015.1111306

- Duchaine, E. L., Reynosa, R. J., & Garza, R. (2021). Secondary mathematics and science teachers prepared for inclusion. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 19(2), 103–126.
- Duque-Aguilar, J. F. (2021). Teachers' assessment approaches regarding EFL students' speaking skill. *PROFILE: Issues in Teachers' Professional Development*, 23(1), 161–177. https://doi.org/10.15446/profile.v23n1.85964
- Faraclas, K. L. (2018). A professional development training model for improving coteaching performance. *International Journal of Special Education*, *33*(3), 524–540.
- Farber, N. K. (2006). Conducting qualitative research: a practical guide for school counselors. *Professional School Counseling*, *9*(5), 367. https://doi.org/10.5330/prsc.9.4.03j7315p7m5011m0
- Frey, J. R., & Gillispie, C. M. (2018). The accessibility needs of students with disabilities: Special considerations for instruction and assessment. In *Springer eBooks* (pp. 93–105). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71126-3_6
- Ghanbarpour, M. (2017). A qualitative meta-synthesis of research on dynamic assessment of second/foreign language learning: implications for language teachers. *Journal of Language Teaching & Research*, 8(4), 731–741. https://doi.org/10.17507/jltr.0804.12
- Giraldo, F. (2019). Language assessment practices and beliefs: Implications for language assessment literacy. *HOW*, 26(1), 35–61. https://doi.org/10.19183/how.26.1.481
- Goegan, L. D., Radil, A. I., & Daniels, L. M. (2018). Accessibility in Questionnaire

- Research: Integrating Universal Design to Increase the Participation of Individuals with Learning Disabilities. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, *16*(2), 177–190.
- Greenwald, H. P., & Zukoski, A. P. (2018). Assessing collaboration: Alternative measures and issues for evaluation. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *39*(3), 322–335. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098214017743813
- Ha, T., Dauenhauer, B., & Krause, J. (2022). Facilitating alternative assessment with technology in physical education. *Strategies: A Journal for Physical and Sport Educators*, 35(2), 36–39. https://doi.org/10.1080/08924562.2022.2031379
- Hatch, J. A. (2002). Doing qualitative research in educational settings. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Hathcoat, J. D. (2018). The role of assignments in the multi-state collaborative: lessons learned from a master chef. *Peer Review*, 20(4), 7–10.
- Hirsch, S. E., Randall, K. N., Common, E. A., & Lane, K. L. (2020). Results of practice-based professional development for supporting special educators in learning how to design functional assessment-based interventions. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 43(4), 281–295. https://doi.org/10.1177/0888406419876926
- Jimenez, B. A., & Warren, S. H. (2023). Building self-determination via student engaged formative assessments for students with extensive support needs. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 58(1), 48–61.
- Kankam, P. K. (2019). The use of paradigms in information research. *Library & Information Science Research* (07408188), 41(2), 85–92.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lisr.2019.04.003

- Keith, K. (2021). Academic outcomes for students with autism in middle and high school (Doctoral dissertation).
- Khan, S. S. (2020). Standardized entrance/aptitude testing in the era of Foucault's panopticon: The bilingual student and the minority student. *Education & Urban Society*, 52(6), 847–871. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124519894978
- Kiley, A., Jones, D., Hester, C., Coe, M., & Ward, T. (2022). The science symposium: A substantive alternative assessment. *Science Teacher*, *90*(1), 42–47.
- Kuzu, E., Tural, P., & Bektas Çetinkaya, Y. (2022). Transition to modular system during the pandemic: A study from a distant EFL program. *Participatory Educational Research*, 9(5), 43–58. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.22.103.9.5
- LaRon A. Scott, & Bruno, L. (2018). Universal design for transition: A conceptual framework for blending academics and transition instruction. *Journal of Special Education Apprenticeship*, 7(3).
- Lau, P. N., Chua, Y. T., Teow, Y., & Xue, X. (2020). Implementing alternative assessment strategies in chemistry amidst COVID-19: Tensions and reflections. *Education Sciences*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10110323
- Lazarus, S. S., Hinkle, A. R., Liu, K. K., & Thurlow, M. L. (2022). *Including students with disabilities in K-2 academic assessments*. (NCEO Brief Number 28.) In National Center on Educational Outcomes. National Center on Educational Outcomes.
- Learned, J. E., Dacus, L. C., Morgan, M. J., Schiller, K. S., & Gorgun, G. (2020). "The

Tail Wagging the Dog": High-Stakes testing as a mediating context in secondary literacy-related. *Teachers College Record*, *122*(11). https://doi.org/10.1177/016146812012201115

- Ma, W., & Winke, P. (2019). Self-assessment: How reliable is it in assessing oral proficiency over time? *Foreign Language Annals*, 52(1), 66–86. https://doi.org/10.1111/flan.12379
- Majoko, T. (2018). Participation in higher education: Voices of students with IEPs.

 *Cogent Education, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2018.1542761
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (2019). *Qualitative research in practice: examples for discussion and analysis* (Second edition.). Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, W., & Kreiner, D. (2008). Student perception of coercion to participate in psychological research. *North American Journal of Psychology*, *10*(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15328023top0803_4
- Minjong, Y. (2018). The influence of standardized testing pressure on teachers' working environment. *KEDI Journal of Educational Policy*, *15*(2), 3–22.
- Moscardini, L., & Moscardini, C. (2020). Dynamic assessment and teachers' knowledge of children's mathematical thinking: A case study in children's mathematics.

 Support for Learning, 35(4), 522–541. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9604.12331
- Netta Iivari. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities.

 *Information Technology & People, 31(1), 111–133. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168

- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T. & Varpio, L. How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on medical education* 8, 90–97 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-019-0509-2
- New York State Education Department. (2015, November). Special education field advisory. http://www.p12.nysed.gov/specialed/publications/2015-memos/documents/cpr-aed-exemption-advisory.pdf
- New York State Report Card. (2015).

 https://data.nysed.gov/reportcard.php?instid=800000036910&year=2015&creater
 eport=1®ents=1
- New York State Report Card. (2016).

 https://data.nysed.gov/reportcard.php?instid=800000036910&year=2016&creater
 eport=1®ents=1
- New York State Report Card. (2017).

 https://data.nysed.gov/reportcard.php?instid=800000036910&year=2017&creater
 eport=1®ents=1
- New York State Report Card. (2018).

 https://data.nysed.gov/essa.php?instid=800000036899&year=2018&createreport=
 1®ents=1
- Nilmanat, K., & Kurniawan, T. (2021). The quest in case study research. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 25(1), 1–6.
- Okoro, C. S., Takawira, O., & Baur, P. (2021). An assessment of tutoring performance, challenges and support during COVID-19: A qualitative study in a South African

- university. *Journal of University Teaching and Learning Practice*, 18(8). https://doi.org/10.53761/1.18.8.4
- Pecheone, R. (2018). Redesigning assessment systems: Emerging lessons from three states. executive summary. Students at the Center: Deeper Learning Research Series. In Jobs for the Future. Jobs for the Future.
- Pereira, D., Cadime, I., Brown, G., & Flores, M. A. (2022). How do undergraduates perceive the use of assessment? A study in higher education. *European Journal of Higher Education*, 12(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/21568235.2020.1871393
- Phongsirikul, M. (2018). Traditional and Alternative Assessments in ELT: Students' and Teachers' Perceptions. *rEFLections*, 25(1), 61–84.
- Popham, J. W. (1999). Why standardized tests don't measure educational quality. Educational Leadership, 56, 8–15.
- Rapley, E. (2018). 'Seeing the light.' Personal epiphanies and moving towards interpretivism; a researcher's tale of exploring teacher pedagogic practice. *Ethnography & Education*, 13(2), 185-203.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/17457823.2017.1315311
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2020). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Rhim, L. M., & The Center for Learner Equity. (2021). A strategic city-based framework for effectively and efficiently educating students with IEPs. in *Center for Learner Equity*. Center for Learner Equity.
- Sahin-Taskin, C. (2018). Effects of active learning environments supported with self- and

- peer assessment on pre-service teachers' pedagogical and self-efficacy beliefs. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 46(5), 421–440.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/1359866x.2017.1355049
- Scharp, K. M., & Sanders, M. L. (2019). What is a theme? Teaching thematic analysis in qualitative communication research methods. *Communication Teacher*, *33*(2), 117–121. https://doi.org/10.1080/17404622.2018.1536794
- Şenel, S., Pekdağ, B., & Günaydin, S. (2018). Chemistry teachers' problems and insufficiencies in educational measurement and evaluation. *Necatibey Faculty of Education Electronic Journal of Science & Mathematics Education*, 12(1), 419–441. https://doi.org/10.17522/balikesirnef.437824
- Sevilmiş, A., & Yıldız, Ö. (2021). An approach for being able to use the options of calculating inter-coder reliability manually and through software in qualitative research of education and training in sports. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 17(2), 369–384. https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2021.332.23
- Shahbari, J. A., & Abu-Alhija, F. N. (2018). Does training in alternative assessment matter? The case of prospective and practicing mathematics teachers' attitudes toward alternative assessment and their beliefs about the nature of mathematics.

 International Journal of Science & Mathematics Education, 16(7), 1315–1335.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-017-9830-6
- Sherman, B. J., Bateman, K. M., Jeong, S., & Hudock, L. A. (2021). Dialogic metaethnography: troubling methodology in ethnographically informed qualitative inquiry. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, *16*(1), 279–302.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-019-09961-8

- Sibbald, Shannon & Paciocco, Stefan & Fournie, Meghan & Asseldonk, Rachelle & Scurr, Tiffany. (2021). Continuing to enhance the quality of case study methodology in health services research. *Healthcare Management Forum*. 34. https://doi.org/10.1177/08404704211028857
- Singh, C. K. S., Muhammad, M. M., Mostafa, N. A., Yunus, M. M., Noordin, N., & Darm, R. (2022). Exploring ESL teachers' alternative assessment strategies and practices in the classroom. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, *18*(1), 411–426.
- Smucker, A. D. (2022). Exploring the growth of inclusive curriculum: a systematic review of scholar and practitioner perspectives. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2022.2121988
- Social Studies Department Meeting. (2019, November 5). Superintendent's Day Conference Meeting. St. James, New York
- Söküt Açar, T., Inalpulat, M., Ayman Oz, N., Genc, L., Arslan, H., & Bobek Bagran, A. (2019). A journey to children's perceptions on forest fire through drawings in Canakkale Province, Turkey: Exploring the needs for alternative educative approaches. *Applied Environmental Education & Communication*, 18(4), 285-299. https://doi.org/10.1080/1533015x.2018.1468287
- Starman, A. (2013). The case study as a type of qualitative research. *Journal of Contemporary Educational Studies*, 9(1), 28–43.
- Stiggins, R. J. (1991). Assessment literacy. Phi Delta Kappan, 72(7), 534-539.

- Sulaiman, T., Rahim, S. S. A., Wong, K., & Jaafar, W. M. W. (2021). The use of "Scratch and Challenge Board" as an alternative assessment tool to enhance university students' skills. *Asian Journal of University Education*, *17*(3), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.24191/ajue.v17i3.14506
- Swaran Singh, C. K., Muhammad, M. M., Mostafa, N. A., Noordin, N., Darmi, R., Md Yunus, M., Kiong, T. T., & Masa Singh, T. S. (2022). Challenges and needs of ESL teachers in implementing portfolio assessment as alternative assessment in teaching English. *Asian Journal of University Education*, *18*(3), 710–723. https://doi.org/10.24191/ajue.v18i3.18955
- Tulgar, A. T. (2017). Selfie@ssessment as an alternative form of self-assessment at undergraduate level in higher education. *Journal of Language & Linguistics Studies*, *13*(1), 321–335.
- Vasu, K. A. P., Mei Fung, Y., Nimehchisalem, V., & Md Rashid, S. (2022). Self-regulated learning development in undergraduate ESL writing classrooms: Teacher feedback versus self-assessment. *RELC Journal*, 53(3), 612-626. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033688220957782
- Williams, D. (2012). *Chapter 5 Audit Trail*. Qualitative Inquiry in Daily Life. Retrieved June 7, 2022.
- Yan, Z., Panadero, E., Wang, X., & Zhan, Y. (2023). A systematic review on students' perceptions of self-assessment: Usefulness and factors influencing implementation. *Educational Psychology Review*, 35(3), 81.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-023-09799-1

- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in *Malaysia*. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2700-2713. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3412
- Zhang, Y. (2019). Investigating K-12 teachers' use of electronic board in the classroom in the central south of united states. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(1), 825–841. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9800-9
- Zhuang, T., Cheung, A. C. K., Lau, W. W. F., & Tang, Y. (2019). Development and validation of an instrument to measure stem undergraduate students' comprehensive educational process. *Frontiers of Education in China*, *14*(4), 575–611. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11516-019-0028-2

Appendix A: The Project

Three Day Professional Development Outline

<u>Understanding and Utilizing Alternative Assessments Professional Development Plan</u>

Day 1 (7:20 A.M. until 2:05 P.M.)

7:20 A.M. – 8:00 A.M.	Welcome and Introductions and Ice Breaker
8:30 A.M. – 9:00 A.M.	Overview of Goals for the Professional Development
9:00 A.M. – 9:10 A.M.	Ten Minute Break
9:10 A.M. – 10:30 A.M.	How did we get here? Study, Findings, Research, Project
10:30 A.M. – 12:00 P.M.	Lunch Break
12:00 P.M. – 12:45 P.M.	Why Are Assessments Important and What Are Alternative
	Assessments?
12:45 P.M. – 1:30 P.M.	Group Activity #1 – What Training / Experience Do I Have
	With Assessments?
1:30 P.M. − 2:05 P.M.	Group Activity #1 – Report Out / Discussion

Day 2 (7:20 A.M. until 2:05 P.M.)

7:20 A.M. – 7:45 A.M.	Breakfast and Informal Review
7:45 A.M. – 9:00 A.M.	Benefits of Alternative Assessments
9:00 A.M. – 9:10 A.M.	Ten Minute Break
9:10 A.M. – 10:30 A.M.	Types of Alternative Assessments
10:45 A.M. – 12:00 P.M.	Lunch Break
12:00 P.M. – 12:45 P.M.	Who Benefits from Alternative Assessments?
12:45 P.M. − 1:30 P.M.	Group Activity #2 – What Alternative Assessments Do I
	Use?
1:30 P.M. – 2:05 P.M.	Group Activity #2 – Report Out / Discussion

Day 3 (7:20 A.M. until 2:05 P.M.)

7:20 A.M. – 7:45 A.M.	Breakfast and Informal Review
7:45 A.M. – 9:00 A.M.	Group Activity #3 – Alternative assessment creation
10:45 A.M. – 12:00 P.M.	Lunch Break
12:00 P.M. – 1:00 P.M.	Group Activity #3 – Report Out / Discussion
1:00 P.M. – 1:45 P.M.	Questions / Wrap Up
1:45 P.M. − 2:05 P.M.	Professional Development Evaluation

ALTERNATIVE ASSESSMENTS

Presenter: Chander Mallhotra Jr.

Summer 2023

INTRODUCTIONS

Please state your name, courses taught, and years of experience.

If you could live the life of any person from history, who would it be?



Questions We Will Answer

- What are alternative assessments?
- Why should I use alternative assessments?
- Which students benefit the most from alternative assessments?
- How do I create an alternative assessment?

AND..... BREAK!

Please return in ten minutes.

Research Review



Study. A study was conducted by interviewing 8 social studies teachers about their knowledge and use of alternative assessments. This information was then reviewed for common patterns and themes.



Findings The study found that numerous teachers have no received training on alternative assessments, and few felt confidence in their knowledge of alternative assessments. Several participants expressed a desire for further training.



Action: This professional development was designed to help improve the use and creation of alternative assessments by teachers



We are adjourned until 12 P.M

Three Pillars of Education







CURRICULUM INSTRUCTION ASSESSMENT

Assessment

- What is the goal of an assessment?
- Formative Assessment: A formative assessment measures student learning as part of the process. Formative assessments are given more frequently than summative assessments to measure whether the students have grasped the material before moving on in the curriculum.
- Summative Assessment: Summative assessments measure a student's long -term achievement and understanding of the material.
- When would a formative assessment be more appropriate than a summative assessment?

What are alternative assessments?

- Alternative Assessment: Alternative Assessments are any assessments outside of
 what is viewed as the traditional assessments of multiple choice, true -false,
 essays, and short answer questions. Alternative assessments are viewed as being
 more student centered than traditional assessments.
- Based on this definition would you consider the Regents exam to be an alternative assessment? Why or why not?

WHAT TRAINING HAVE YOU RECEIVED ON ASSESSMENTS?

WHAT EXPERIENCE DO
YOU HAVE WITH
CREATING
ASSESSMENTS?

Please divide into four groups and discuss the prompts on the screen. You will be asked to share a summary of your discussion.

LET'S DISCUSS

Benefits of Alternative Assessments

What type of students do you believe would benefit the most from alternative assessments?

How could alternative assessments support social and emotional learning?

How could alternative assessments increase community or parent engagement?

What type of skills could alternative assessments foster that traditional assessments cannot?

AND..... BREAK! (AGAIN)

Please return in ten minutes.

Types of Alternative Assessments

Self-evaluations
Peer-evaluations
Jam boards
Drawing
Service-learning
Portfolios
Investigations



We are adjourned until 12 P.M.

What are alternative assessments?

What are the benefits of alternative assessments?

Let's Review

What are some types of alternative assessments?

Who Benefits?

Students with learning disabilities

Students with communication disorders

Students with physical challenges

Students with emotional disturbances

Students who struggles with traditional skills

WHAT ALTERNATIVE ASSESSMENTS DO I USE?

WHAT ALTERNATIVE ASSESSMENTS HAVE I EXPERIENCED?

Please divide into four groups and discuss the prompts on the screen. You will be asked to share a summary of your discussion.

LET'S DISCUSS

Creating an Alternative Assessment Divide up into four groups. Your group will



Divide up into four groups. Your group will work together to create an alternative assessment. The assessment should be usable by the end of the workshop so please create all parts of the assessment. The assessments will be presented afterwards and shared with the department.



We are adjourned until 12 P.M.

LET'S DISCUSS

QUESTIONS?

THANKYOU VERY MUCH!

Thank you for taking the time to attend this training. Please complete the surveys and leave them in the bin as you exit. Enjoy the rest of your summer!

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Hello, my name is Chander Mallhotra Jr. I would like to thank you very much for agreeing to participate in my study. This study is being conducted as part of the completion of my graduate degree at Walden University. The purpose of this study is to investigate the perceptions of teachers regarding the implementation and use of alternative assessments to support students' academic achievement in social studies classes while still having to implement the summative assessment of the Regents exams. Our interview is expected to last between thirty to forty-five minutes. I will be asking you about how you assist students with IEPs, design assessments, and any training or assistance you have received on designing and implementing assessments.

Prior to today you received a consent form which you signed and returned. Just as a reminder you agreed to participate in this study by allowing for this interview and submitting a lesson plan relevant to an assessment. You also agreed to be recorded for today's interview. Do you still consent to these terms?

Excellent, before we begin do you have any questions for me?

Okay, if any questions arise at any time, feel free to let me know and we can discuss them. Let us begin with our first question.

[Note: Throughout the interview I will use, as appropriate, probing questions such as "Can you tell me more about...", "Could you give me an example of...?", and "Could you elaborate on ...?" to illicit further insights from the participants.]

- 1) What factors most influence assessment design in your classroom? (RQ 1)
- 2) Please describe the experience you have teaching classes which contain

students with IEPs. (RQ 1)

- 3) How are students with IEPs supported in your classroom? (RQ 1)
- 4) Please describe the process that goes into planning, creating, and implementing your assessments. (RQ 1,2)
- 5) What, if any, input have you received from a special education teacher when designing your assessments? (RQ 1,2)
- 6) Can you provide an example of how this input changed your assessment? (RQ 1)
- 7) What support is provided by the district or department for assessment design in your classroom? (RQ 2)
- 8) Please describe any training you have received on implementing alternative assessments. (RQ 2)
- 9) What are your experiences with using alternative assessments? (RQ 2)
- 10) Can you describe in more detail how this experience would impact students with IEPs? (RQ 1,2)
- 11) Please describe your perception of alternative assessments as an assessment strategy. (RQ 2)

Before we finalize our interview, is there anything related to alternative assessments or your view of alternative assessments that you would like to share? Is there any in general that you would like to share that you feel may be relevant? Well, thank you very much and I hope you enjoy the rest of your day!

Appendix C: Document Analysis Protocol

To perform my document analysis, I reviewed the lesson plans and assessments submitted by each participant. The goal was to determine if the assessments submitted by each participant qualified as a traditional or alternative assessment. To determine the type of assessment each participant submitted the lesson plans and assessments where reviewed to identify if they were more consistent with traditional assessments or alternative assessments.

The first part that was analyzed was the type of questions on the assessments. The assessments were analyzed to determine whether they consisted primarily of traditional assessment tasks or alternative assessment tasks. Traditional assessment tasks include multiple choice questions, true/false questions, traditional essays, and short writing tasks. The questions on the test where also analyzed to see if they conform to the format of the two Regents exams. Both Regents exams contain stimulus based multiple choice questions. The United States history Regents contains a Civic Literacy Essay with specific wording that is consistent across exams.

Next, the assessments where viewed for what they actually assessed. The questions were broken down into whether they measured content knowledge, academic skill, or both. Questions which measure academic skills where examined to see if they measured writing skills or other tasks. The questions were also viewed for any problemsolving elements they may contain. I looked to see if any questions translated to real-world problems or historical research skills.

After that evaluation, I viewed the materials available to students while taking the test to see if any of the assessments contained a nontraditional format. The lesson plans and assessments were reviewed to note whether or not any teacher allowed students to collaborate on the assessment, whether in person or digitally. This is also when I noted the amount of time that was allotted for each exam.

Finally, I checked the lesson plans for any information on how students would be graded for their assessments and to see if there were any accompanying rubrics. After all of this information was reviewed for each pair of lesson plans and assessments, a determination was made as to whether or not the assessment qualified as a traditional assessment or an alternative assessment.

Appendix D: Alternative Assessment Professional Development Evaluation

1.	I found this professional development to be informative and worthwhile. 5 – Strongly Agree 4 – Agree 3 – Unsure 2 – Disagree 1 – Strongly Disagree
2.	I found the presenter to be clear, articulate, and understandable. 5 – Strongly Agree 4 – Agree 3 – Unsure 2 – Disagree 1 – Strongly Disagree
3.	The presenter managed time and transitions effectively. 5 – Strongly Agree 4 – Agree 3 – Unsure 2 – Disagree 1 – Strongly Disagree
4. assess	This professional development improved my understanding of alternative ments. 5 – Strongly Agree 4 – Agree 3 – Unsure 2 – Disagree 1 – Strongly Disagree
5. assess	This professional development improved my ability to create alternative ments. 5 – Strongly Agree 4 – Agree

3 – Unsure 2 – Disagree

1 – Strongly Disagree

- 6. This professional development improved my ability to utilize alternative assessments.

 5 Strongly Agree
 4 Agree
 3 Unsure
 2 Disagree
- 7. Attending this professional development made me more likely to use alternative assessments in my classroom.
 - 5 Strongly Agree

1 – Strongly Disagree

- 4 Agree
- 3 Unsure
- 2 Disagree
- 1 Strongly Disagree
- 8. Attending this professional development gave me a more positive view of alternative assessments.
 - 5 Strongly Agree
 - 4 Agree
 - 3 Unsure
 - 2 Disagree
 - 1 Strongly Disagree
- 9. Overall, the professional development was impactful and should promote change.
 - 5 Strongly Agree
 - 4 Agree
 - 3 Unsure
 - 2 Disagree
 - 1 Strongly Disagree